
Community & Children's Services Committee

Date: FRIDAY, 7 FEBRUARY 2020
Time: ** 11.00 am ** - PLEASE NOTE START TIME
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Randall Anderson (Chairman)
Ruby Sayed (Deputy Chairman)
George Abrahams
Munsur Ali
Rehana Ameer
Matthew Bell
Peter Bennett
Mary Durcan
John Fletcher
Marianne Fredericks
Alderman John Garbutt
Alderman Prem Goyal
Alderman David Graves
Caroline Haines
Deputy the Revd Stephen Haines
Graeme Harrower

Angus Knowles-Cutler
Natasha Maria Cabrera Lloyd-
Owen
Deputy Catherine McGuinness
Benjamin Murphy
Deputy Joyce Nash
Barbara Newman
Dhruv Patel
Susan Pearson
William Pimlott
Henrika Priest
Jason Pritchard
James de Sausmarez
Deputy Philip Woodhouse

Co-opted 
Members:

Laura Jørgensen and Matt Piper

Enquiries: Julie Mayer tel. no. 020 7332 1410
julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at the rising of the Committee 
NB: Part of this agenda might be subject to audio or visual recording

John Barradell
Town Clerk and Chief Executive

Public Document Pack



2

AGENDA
Part 1 - Public Reports

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES
To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 13th 
December 2019.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS
Members are asked to note the Committee’s Outstanding Actions list.

For Information
(Pages 9 - 10)

5. CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION ALMSHOUSES
A presentation from the Sheltered Housing Manager.

For Discussion

6. ANNUAL REVIEW OF COMMITTEE'S TERMS OF REFERENCE
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Decision
(Pages 11 - 12)

7. HOUSING MANAGEMENT AND ALMSHOUSES SUB COMMITTEE: TRIBUNAL 
OUTCOME AND PLANNING APPLICATION DELAYS IN OTHER BOROUGHS
Chairman of the Housing Management and Almshouses Sub Committee to be heard.

For Information

8. HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING SUB COMMITTEE: OPTIONS 
APPRAISAL BID
Chairman of the Community and Children’s Services Committee to be heard.

For Information

9. DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET ESTIMATES AND HIGH-LEVEL SUMMARY 
BUSINESS PLAN 2020/21 - COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES - 
EXCLUDING HRA
Report of the Chamberlain and the Director of Community and Children’s Services.

For Decision
(Pages 13 - 28)

10. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT AND CAPITAL BUDGETS (HRA ) 2020/21
Joint Report of the Chamberlain and Director of Community and Children’s Services.

For Decision
(Pages 29 - 40)



3

11. EDUCATION PERFORMANCE FOR CITY PRIMARY PUPILS 2019
Report of the Director of Community and Children’s Services.

For Information
(Pages 41 - 66)

12. STRONGER COMMUNITIES AND SMALL GRANTS PROGRAMME
Report of the Director of Community and Children’s Services.

For Decision
(Pages 67 - 82)

13. BARBICAN AND COMMUNITY LIBRARIES - SERVICES FOR CHILDREN AND 
FAMILIES
Report of the Director of Community and Children’s Services.

For Information
(Pages 83 - 100)

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

For Decision
Part 2 - Non-Public Reports

17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 13th February 2019.

For Decision
(Pages 101 - 106)

18. WAIVER REPORT: CITY OF LONDON PRIMARY ACADEMY ISLINGTON  
(COLPAI)
Report of the Director of Community and Children’s Services. 

For Decision
(Pages 107 - 112)

19. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

20. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED

Confidential agenda
21. CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES

To approve the confidential minutes of the meeting held on 13th February 2019.

For Decision



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY & CHILDREN'S SERVICES COMMITTEE

Friday, 13 December 2019 

Minutes of the meeting held at Guildhall at 11.00 am

Members:
Randall Anderson (Chairman)
Ruby Sayed (Deputy Chairman)
Matthew Bell
Peter Bennett
Mary Durcan
Helen Fentimen
John Fletcher
Marianne Fredericks
Alderman John Garbutt
Alderman Prem Goyal

Natasha Maria Cabrera Lloyd-Owen
Deputy Catherine McGuinness
Barbara Newman
Dhruv Patel
Susan Pearson
Henrika Priest

In Attendance

Officers:
Andrew Carter - Director of Community & Children's Services
Sandra Husbands - Director of Public Health
Andy Liggins - Public Health Consultant
Simon Cribbens - Community & Children's Services 
Jason Hayes - Community & Children’s Services 
Theresa Shortland - Community & Children’s Services 
Will Norman - Community & Children’s Services
Gerald Mehrtens - Community & Children's Services
Paul Murtagh - Community & Children's Services 
Chris Pelham - Community &Children's Services
Mark Jarvis - Chamberlain's 
Chandni Tanna - Town Clerks (Communications Department)
Julie Mayer - Town Clerk's 
Mark Lowman - City Surveyors
Frank Marchione - Comptroller & City Solicitors

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from George Abrahams, Caroline Haines, Deputy the 
Revd. Stephen Haines, Graeme Harrower, Laura Jorgensen, William Pimlott, 
Jason Pritchard, James de Sausmarez and Deputy Philip Woodhouse.

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
There were no declarations.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3. MINUTES 
RESOLVED, that – the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 7th November 2019 be approved.

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
Members noted the Committee’s Outstanding Actions list and those items 
which either appeared on today’s agenda or had been scheduled for future 
meetings.  

- City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults Board – Annual Report 
2018/19 – re transitions from child to adult safeguarding and assessing 
outcomes – to be covered in the next Annual Report to the Committee 
(expected Autumn 2020)

- Sufficiency Strategy – a message had been posted on the website in 
respect of promoting fostering opportunities to City residents.

- Playground Equipment – external gym equipment had been included in 
the brief for consultation.

- Right to Light Claims, Golden Lane – the Director advised that an 
apology had been received from the Consultant, acknowledging that 
residents should have been advised on the implication on leases in 
respect of the slither of land.  The original offers would therefore stand 
and larger claims were progressing.

5. TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT OF TWO NEW MEMBERS TO THE 
SAFEGUARDING SUB COMMITTEE 
Members were asked to appoint to 2 vacancies on its Safeguarding Sub 
Committee.

RESOLVED, that – being the only Members willing to serve, Jason Pritchard 
and Munsur Ali be appointed to the Safeguarding Sub Committee for 2019-20.

6. THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION'S DRAFT SPORT AND PHYSICAL 
ACTIVITY STRATEGY FOR 2020-25 
Members received a report of the Head of Corporate Strategy and Performance 
in respect of developing a strategy for sport and physical activity in the City of 
London.  Members noted that the report had been presented to various City 
Corporation Committee and the Town Clerk had circulated Members’ 
comments ahead of today’s Committee. It was expected that a proposed final 
version of the Strategy would be presented to the Policy and Resources 
Committee in February 2020.

RESOLVED, that – the report and comments to date be noted.  

Page 2



7. COMMISSIONING UPDATE 
Members received a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services which provided an update on commissioning activity, since the last 
report in May 2019. 

RESOLVED, that – the report be noted.  

8. FREE SCHOOL MEALS FOR ALL CHILDREN ATTENDING SIR JOHN 
CASS'S FOUNDATION PRIMARY SCHOOL - UPDATE 
Member considered a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services in respect of a pilot to provide free school meals to all pupils at Sir 
John Cass’s Foundation Primary School.  Members noted that the budgetary 
provision was in place.

RESOLVED, that – the impact of the pilot project be noted and funding for 
meals for all children attending Sir John Cass Primary School, in years 3, 4 5 
and 6 continue, sourced from the Education and Early Years’ Service Budget, 
and subject to annual review.  

9. REVISED ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA FOR THE CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION COMBINED EDUCATION CHARITY (no 312836)  AND THE 
CITY EDUCATIONAL TRUST FUND (290840)
Members received the revised eligibility criteria for the City of London 
Combined Education Charity and the City Educational Trust Fund.  

RESOVED, that – the amended eligibility criteria for the City of London 
Combined Education Charity (no 312836) and the City Educational Trust Fund 
(290840), as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, be recommended to the 
Education Board.

10. LETTING/SALES POLICIES FOR NEW DEVELOPMENTS 
Members considered a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services in respect of sales and lettings policies for new housing 
developments.  Members noted that the Housing Management and 
Almshouses Sub Committee had considered this report in some detail at their 
last meeting, on 20th November 2019, and the questions raised and their 
responses had been circulated ahead of today’s meeting.  

Whilst noting that detail on equity was still to be finalised, Members agreed to 
amend the recommendation as set out in (2) below.  In response to a question 
about eligibility to vote in a residents’ ballot, Members noted that the eligibility 
criteria was captured by the GLA’s funding conditions. These provide that; “any 
resident whose principal home is on the estate and who has been on the local 
authority’s housing register for at least one year prior to the date the Landlord 
Offer is published, irrespective of their current tenure, is eligible to vote in the 
ballot”.  

RESOLVED, that –

In respect of Leaseholders:

Page 3



1. Long leaseholders who occupy their flat as their only or principal home 
and who wish to remain on the estate will, if their existing flat is subject 
to demolition, be offered a new flat on a shared-equity basis.  NB If, 
however, they are able and wish to purchase 100% of the equity, then 
they will be able to do so.

2. Any long leaseholder taking up a shared-equity offer will be expected to 
invest funds from the purchase of their old property and a proportion of 
any Home Loss payment (plus a potential voluntary contribution from 
savings). Any value gap will be met by the City Corporation retaining an 
equity share in the property. Any value gap will be met either directly by 
the City or indirectly through a funding partner.

3. The shared-equity terms will not require the leaseholder to pay rental on 
the equity that they do not own but they will be liable for 100% of the 
service charge. 

4. The shared-equity opportunity will not be available to long leaseholders 
who do not occupy their flat as their only or principal home. Instead, they 
will be offered market value plus compensation if, their flat is subject to 
demolition as part of the new development.

In respect of Secure Tenants:

5. Secure tenants must be offered alternative accommodation and if, in line 
with the previously adopted Local Lettings Plan, their flat is subject to 
demolition, they will be offered a new flat within the new development 
and will only need to move once.

In respect of Windsor House:

6. The Long Leaseholder policy proposed above to be communicated to 
long leaseholders in an information bulletin.

7. Long Leaseholders to be asked to register interest in the shared-equity 
opportunity, so that an assessment of likely project viability can be 
undertaken.  

11. AWARD OF SECTION 202 HOUSING ACT 1996 REVIEWS CONTRACT 
Members considered a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services which sought approval for contracting out of Section 202 - Housing 
Act Reviews (of the Housing Act 1996) to a third-party organisation.  Members 
noted that the local authority in question must authorise the contracting out.  

RESOLVED, That:

1. Authority be granted (retrospectively if necessary) for a period not 
exceeding 10 years (from 01/01/2019) to the exercising of the statutory 
homelessness review function (under Section 202 of the Housing Act 1996) 
by persons or employees of those persons whose details have been 
notified to this Committee (by or on behalf of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services) as having entered into agreements to provide the 

Page 4



exercising of the statutory homelessness review function on behalf of the 
Common Council of the City of London.

2. The Director of Community and Children’s Services be authorised to enter 
into agreements (in accordance with the above authorisation) with persons 
to provide for the exercising of the statutory homelessness review function 
on behalf of the Common Council of the City of London by those persons 
and/or employees of those persons.

3. Housing Reviews Ltd be noted as having entered into an agreement to 
provide the exercising of the Statutory Homeless Review Function up to 31 
December 2019.

12. GOLDEN LANE COMMUNITY CENTRE REFURBISHMENT - GATEWAY 6 - 
OUTCOME REPORT 
Members considered an outcome report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services in respect the refurbishment of the Golden Lane 
Community Centre, including lessons learnt. 

RESOLVED, that - the contents of the report be noted and the project be 
closed. 

13. FIRE DOOR REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME - GATEWAY 1-4 - PROJECT 
PROPOSAL 
Members considered a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services in respect of the Fire Door Replacement Programme.  In response to 
questions, Members noted that Spitalfields was not part of the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) and would need to be submitted as a separate capital 
bid. The Assistant Director advised that the issue of multiple/single contractors 
was under consideration by Procurement officers and had been discussed with 
the Chairman of the Projects Sub Committee.  

RESOLVED, that:

1. A budget of £150,000 be approved for internal staff costs and professional 
fees to reach the next project gateway.

2. The project budget of £150,000 (excluding risk) be noted.

3. The total estimated cost of the project at £9,100,000 (excluding risk) be 
noted.  

14. QUESTIONS 
In response to a question about the status of the Community and Children’s 
Services Department’s Internal Audit reports, the Director advised this might be 
a timing issue and agreed to investigate further.  Members noted that the 
Director met regularly with officers in Internal Audit and Risk Management in 
respect of internal audit report recommendations and progress on action plans 
and their implementation.

Page 5



15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
The Chairman agreed to admit an item of urgent business in respect of an 
urgent decision taken by the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman, since the last meeting of the Committee   The Town Clerk 
had circulated the decision notice to Members ahead of this meeting. 

RESOLVED, that – the action taken under urgency provision in respect of an 
updated Deed of Variation to the Section 75 Agreement, to take into account 
the Better Care Fund for 2019-20, be noted.  

Member noted that the meeting scheduled for 10th January 2020 at 11,30 am 
would be cancelled and the next meeting of the Committee would be on 7th 
February 2020 at either 11 or 11.30 am (exact time to be confirmed, depending 
on the size of the agenda).

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED, that – under Section 100A (4) of the  Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 (Schedule 12A) of the Local Government Act.

Item no(s) para no(s)
18-27 3
28 Confidential item (paras 1,2,3 & 4)

17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
RESOLVED, that – the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 7th 
November 2019 be approved. 

18. ROUGH SLEEPING OUTREACH SERVICE PROCUREMENT STAGE 1 
STRATEGY REPORT 
Members considered and approved a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services. 

19. ROUGH SLEEPING OPTIONS APPRAISAL - NEW INTERVENTION 
PROPOSAL 
Members considered a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services. 

20. WAIVER REPORT: MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT (MHCLG) GRANT-FUNDED ROUGH SLEEPING SUPPORT 
WORKER 
Members considered and approved a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services. 

Page 6



21. PROGRESS REPORT OF THE PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL PRIMARY 
SCHOOL PLACES AND SOCIAL HOUSING ON THE FORMER RICHARD 
CLOUDESLEY SCHOOL SITE 
Members considered and approved a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services.

22. HOUSING DELIVERY PROGRAMME - PROGRESS REPORT 
Members received a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services.

23. ISLEDON HOUSE INFILL  DEVELOPMENT - GATEWAY 4 - ISSUES 
REPORT 
Members considered and approved a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services.

24. TENANTED PROPERTIES ELECTRICAL TESTING AND SMOKE 
DETECTOR INSTALLATION - PHASE 3 - GATEWAY 5 - ISSUES REPORT 
Members considered and approved a report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services.

25. GOLDEN LANE LEISURE CENTRE - OUTCOME REPORT - GATEWAY 6 
Members considered and approved a report of the City Surveyor.

26. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
There were no items

27. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions

At 12.55pm Members agreed to suspend Standing Orders in order to conclude 
the business on the Confidential Agenda.

Confidential Agenda

28. PUBLIC HEALTH SHARED SERVICES 
Members considered and approved a report of the Director of Public Health

The meeting ended at 1.10 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Julie Mayer tel. no. 020 7332 1410
julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES COMMITTEE (CCS) 
 OUTSTANDING ACTIONS LIST  - DECEMBER 2019 UPDATE

Date added Title Action Responsible Officer and target 
date

9-10-19 FIRE DOOR TESTING Members will receive a  comprehensive 
report covering fire safety,  clearly setting 
out the ‘up to 60 minutes’ position.

Assistant Director, Barbican and 
Property Services/Town Clerk
To be covered in Fire Testing 
report to Committee in March.

9-10-19 CITY & HACKNEY 
SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 
BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 
2018/19

City and Hackney Safeguarding Adults 
Board – Annual Report 2018/19 – re 
transitions from child to adult 
safeguarding and assessing outcomes –

Independent Chair of the City and 
Hackney Safeguarding Adults 
Board.
To be covered in the next Annual 
Report to the Committee 
(expected Autumn 2020)

13-12-19 COMMUNITY AND 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
DEPARTMENT’S INTERNAL 
AUDIT REPORTS  - question at 
Committee about the number of 
red and amber 
recommendations.

Director agreed to investigate further. Director of Community and 
Children’s Services

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 10



Committee: Community and Children’s Services Date:  7th February 
2020

Subject: Terms of Reference and Frequency of 
Meetings of the Community and Children’s Services 
Committee Public

Report of: Town Clerk

Report Author: Julie Mayer For Decision

Summary

As part of the post-implementation review of the changes made to the Governance 
Arrangements in 2011, it was agreed that all Committees/Boards should review 
their Terms of Reference annually.   This will enable any proposed changes to be 
considered in time for the reappointment of Committees by the Annual Meeting of 
the Court of Common Council.  The current Terms of Reference are attached for 
your consideration. 

During the course of last year, the Committee met on a different day of the week 
to Fridays, on three occasions, to see  whether this might be more convenient for 
Members.  Last year, the average number of apologies/absences was 10.5 per 
meeting.  The three meetings held on a different day of the week; i.e. - two held on 
a Wednesday and one on a Thursday, recorded absences slightly above this.  
However, the highest numbers of apologies/absences recorded were in June and 
December, when the meetings were held on Fridays.  Members are therefore 
asked to consider whether to keep meeting on Fridays or another day of the week, 
provided there are committee rooms available. 

RECOMMENDATION – That:

1. Subject to Members’ comments/suggestions, the Terms of Reference of the 
Committee be approved.

2. The Committee continues to meet on Fridays or Members consider meeting on 
a different day of the week, provided there are committee rooms available.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



Terms of Reference – Community and Children’s Services Committee

To be responsible for:-

(a)     the appointment of the Director of Community & Children’s Services;

(b)     the following functions of the City of London Corporation (other than in 
respect of powers expressly delegated to another committee, sub-
committee, board or panel):-

- Children’s Services
- Adults’ Services
- Education (to include the nomination/appointment of Local 

Authority Governors; as appropriate)
- Social Services

 - Social Housing (i.e. the management and development of the 
property owned by the City of London Corporation, within its 
existing estates,  under the Housing Revenue Account and the 
City Fund, in accordance with the requirements of all relevant 
legislation and the disposal of interests in the City of London 
Corporation’s Housing Estates (pursuant to such policies as are 
from time to time laid down by the Court of Common Council).

- Public health (within the meaning of the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012), liaison with health services and health scrutiny

- Sport/Leisure Activities
- Management of the City of London Almshouses (registered 

charity no 1005857) in accordance with the charity’s governing 
instruments

- Marriage Licensing and the Registration Service and the 
preparation of all statutory plans relating to those functions and 
consulting as appropriate on the exercise of those functions;

(c) appointing Statutory Panels, Boards and Sub-Committees as are 
considered necessary for the better performance of its duties including 
the following areas:-

- Housing Management and Almshouses Sub-Committee
- Safeguarding Sub-Committee
- Integrated Commissioning Sub-Committee
- Homelessness and Rough Sleepers Sub-Committee

(d)

(e)

(f)

the management of The City of London Corporation Combined Relief of 
Poverty Charity (registered charity no. 1073660);

making recommendations to the Education Board on the policy to be 
adopted for the application of charitable funds from The City of London 
Corporation Combined Education Charity (registered charity no. 312836) 
and the City Educational Trust Fund (registered charity no. 290840); and 
to make appointments to the Sub-Committee established by the 
Education Board for the purpose of managing those charities.

the management of the Aldgate Pavilion.

Page 12



1

Committee: Date:

Community and Children’s Services 07/ 02/ 2020
Subject:
Departmental Budget Estimates and high-level summary 
Business Plan 2020/21 – 
Community and Children’s Services excluding HRA

Public

Report of:
Andrew Carter, Director of Community and Children’s 
Services 
Report authors:
Ellie Ward - Community and Children’s Services 
Department 

Louise Said - Chamberlains Department

For Decision

Summary

This report presents for approval the budget estimates and final high-level summary 
Business Plan for the Department of Community & Children’s Services for 2020/21.  
This report presents, at Appendix 1, the budget estimates for 2020/21 for the 
Community and Children’s Services Department excluding HRA of which a summary 
is shown in the table below: 

Original 
budget 
2019/20 

£’000

Original 
budget 
2020/21 

£’000

Movement
original 2019/20 

to original 
budget 2020/21

£’000
Expenditure

Income

Support services and capital 
charges

(26,684)

15,440

(2,196)

(27,710)

16,111

(2,052)

(1,026)

671

144

Total net expenditure (13,440) (13,651) (211)

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

i) review and approve the Community and Children’s Services Department’s 
(excluding HRA) proposed revenue budget for 2020/21 for submission to 
Finance Committee,

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



2

ii) review and approve the Community and Children’s Services Department’s 
(excluding HRA) proposed capital and supplementary revenue projects 
budgets for 2020/21 for submission to Finance Committee,

iii) authorise the Chamberlain, in consultation with the Director of Community 
and Children’s to revise these budgets to allow for any further implications 
arising from Corporate Projects, other reviews and changes to the Cyclical 
Works Programme,

iv) agree that minor amendments for 2019/20 and 2020/21 budgets arising 
during budget setting be delegated to the Chamberlain,

v) note the factors taken into consideration in compiling the Community and 
Children’s Services Department’s Business Plan, including efficiency 
measures, and

vi) approve, subject to the incorporation of any changes sought by this 
Committee, the final high-level summary Business Plan for 2020/21.

Main Report

Background

1. As part of the new framework for corporate and business planning, departments 
were asked to produce standardised high-level, 2-side Business Plans for the first 
time in 2017 for the 2018/19 year.  Members generally welcomed these high-level 
plans for being brief, concise, focused and consistent statements of the key 
ambitions and objectives for every department.

2. For 2020/21, the high-level summary Business Plan has been further evolved to 
make use of the information now available and give a better overview of how the 
department’s work contributes to the Corporate Plan.  It provides an overview of 
departmental activity and resources, mainly but not limited to the forthcoming 12 
months, including capital and revenue projects.  As a high-level summary, this 
document does not capture the granularity of departmental work but gives the 
overall picture of departmental activity, customer feedback, trends where 
applicable and direction of travel.

3. For the first time in 2020/21, high-level summary Business Plans are being 
brought forward alongside budget estimates, pending full integration of the 
processes for 2021/22, to inform medium-term financial planning and the 
development of spending priorities.  This report therefore presents the budget 
estimates and draft final high-level summary Business Plan together as 
appendices.

Departmental budget estimates for 2020/21

4. This report presents, at Appendix 1, the budget estimates for 2020/21 for the 
Community and Children’s Services Department analysed between: 

 Local Risk budgets – these are budgets deemed to be largely within the 
Chief Officer’s control.

Page 14



3

 Central Risk budgets – these are budgets comprising specific items where 
a chief officer manages the underlying service, but where the eventual 
financial out-turn can be strongly influenced by external factors outside of 
his/her control or are budgets of a corporate nature (such as interest on 
balances and rent incomes from investment properties).

 Support Services and Capital Charges – these cover budgets for services 
provided by one activity to another. The control of these costs is exercised 
at the point where the expenditure or income first arises as local or central 
risk. Further analysis can be found in Appendix 2

Proposed Revenue budget for 2020/21

5. The provisional 2020/21 budgets, under the control of the Director of Community 
and Children’s Services being presented to your Committee, have been prepared 
in accordance with guidelines agreed by the Policy and Resources and Finance 
Committees. These include continuing the implementation of the required budget 
reductions across local risk, as well as the proper control of transfers of non-
staffing budget to staffing budgets.  The budget has currently been prepared 
within the resources allocated to the Chief Officer and includes an inflation 
allowance of 2% which offsets a 2% efficiency saving.

6. Overall, the 2020/21 provisional revenue budget total £13,651 million, an 
increase of £211,000 when compared with the original budget for 2019/20. The 
main reasons for this increase are:

 During the year, the Policy and Resources Committee agreed £216,000 of 
additional resources to meet pressures in social care and to offer free 
school meals at the City’s only maintained primary school.

 Additional resources agreed from the Priorities Investment Pot in relation 
to a mental health centre resulting in £151,000 being added to the 2020/21 
original budget.

 Decrease in support service costs and capital recharges of £144,000.

7. An analysis of service expenditure is provided in Appendix 1. Expenditure and 
unfavourable variances are presented in brackets. Only significant variances 
(generally those greater than £100,000) have been commented on in the 
following paragraphs.

 The increase in supplies and services is largely due to additional 
resources agreed in relation to a mental health centre along with increased 
budget set aside for our Private Voluntary and independent providers of 
nursery provision for 3 & 4 year olds which is met from external grant.

 Third party payments overall have increased by £292,000 due in the main 
to a larger number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children presenting 

Page 15



4

themselves to the City. This increase has been partly offset by additional 
grant from the Home Office

 The 2020/21 Original budget reflects the most recent grant allocations and 
shows increases in various grants such as Public Health, Dedicated Schools 
Grant, Improved Better Care Fund and Home Office funding for UASC

 A decrease in customer & client receipts of £113,000 is due in the main to 
lower contributions from the City Police towards the Drug intervention 
Programme which sits under Public Health, along with changes to social 
care packages / client circumstances resulting in less contribution from 
clients.  

  Analysis of the movement in total manpower and related staff costs are 
shown in Table 2 below

Staffing Statement

8. Analysis of the movement in staff related costs are shown in the table below. There 
is an increase of £351,000 in employee expenditure between the 2019/20 original 
budget and 2020/21 original budget. Factors influencing this overall increase are a 
provision for pay award, incremental progression along with additional resources 
to address pressures within social care. 

Table 2 Original Budget 
2019/20

Latest Approved 
Budget 2019/20

Original Budget 
2020/21

Manpower
Full-time

equivalent

Estimated
cost
£000

Manpower
Full-time

equivalent

Estimated
cost
£000

Manpower
Full-time

equivalent

Estimated
cost
£000

People 
Services

58 (3,357) 67 (3,999) 61 (3,625)

Partnership 
Services 
(including 
Central 

Directorate)

38 (2,293) 38 (2,362) 37 (2,342)

Housing 
Services

16 (773) 15 (804) 15 (807)

TOTAL 
COMMUNITY 

AND 
CHILDREN’S 
SERVICES

112 (6,423) 120 (7,165) 113 (6,774)

9. The 2020/21 Latest Approved budget includes additional staff employed in 
relation to the expanded programme of homeless prevention, including the No 
First Night Out and Rough Sleepers initiatives. The Latest Approved budget also 
includes staff on fixed term contracts which come to an end this year. These are 
met from the government grant and will not impact on the Director’s overall local 
risk budget.

Page 16



5

Potential Further Budget Developments

10.The provisional nature of the 2020/10 revenue budget recognises that further 
revisions may be required, including in relation to:

 decisions on funding of the Additional Works Programme by the Resource 
Allocation Committee 

 budget adjustments relating to the Surveyors Repairs and Maintenance 
projects. 

 Further budget adjustments in relation to the Fundamental Review

Revenue Budget 2019/20

11.The current forecast out-turn for 2019/20 is expected to be a small underspend of 
up to £200,000. Appendix 4 shows the movement between the Original Budget 
2019/20 and the Latest Approved Budget 2019/20

.

Draft Capital and Supplementary Revenue Project budgets for 2020/21

12. An annual funding cycle to prioritise capital projects is being introduced for the 
first time this year, these bids will align with the Departmental Business Plan and 
Medium-Term Financial Planning process. Details of these proposed projects 
which were submitted to Resource Allocation Sub-Committee for consideration 
on the 12th December 2019 can be found in Appendix.

13. The latest estimated costs for the Department’s current capital and 
supplementary revenue projects are summarised below:

Service Managed Project

Exp. 
Pre 

01/04/19 2019/20 2020/21
Later 
Years Total

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
      
Authority to start work granted      

Public Health City Mental Health 
Centre 11 446   457

Public Health Health & Social Care IT 
Enabler

139 43   182

Community 
Development

Golden Lane Playground 313 22   335

      

TOTAL COMMUNITY & CHILDREN'S 
SERVICES EXCLUDING HRA 463 511 0 0 974

Page 17



6

i. All schemes are in progress with completion expected within the 
current financial year.

ii. The latest Capital and Supplementary Revenue Project forecast 
expenditure on approved schemes will be presented to the Court of 
Common Council for formal approval in March 2020.

Draft final high-level summary Business Plan for 2020/21

14. This report presents, at Appendix 6, the draft final high-level summary Business 
Plan for 2020/21 for the Community and Children’s Services Department. This 
section outlines the factors taken into consideration in compiling the Business 
Plan and which activities will be reduced or stopped, 

15. The priorities for the departmental business plan were agreed by Members of the 
Community and Children’s Services Committee following a consultative process 
with Members and Senior Officers. The specific workstreams were developed by 
Senior Officers and individual teams reflecting the departmental business plan 
objectives and statutory requirements.

16. The balance of delivery and spend is driven by our statutory responsibilities in 
response to presenting needs, changes in the external environmental and 
national policy drivers.   Where statutory service demand has increased, the 
department has reallocated or sought additional resources. 

17. Delivery is evidenced and tested by a comprehensive set of performance and 
outcome indicators.  These indicators are monitored, and remedial action is 
taken where necessary. Performance is benchmarked through bodies such as 
London Councils and HouseMark. There is a focus on continuous improvement 
in customer service in housing management and processes have been 
strengthened to secure quality and better value in adult and children’s social 
care placements.

18. Some commissioned delivery is being reduced, such as the use of time credits to 
support and promote volunteering. Commissioning approaches have also been 
rationalised to reduce cost whilst preserving frontline delivery.

19. Some of the plans set out for consideration in 2020/21 will be brought back to 
committee for further debate and consideration at a later date.

Corporate & Strategic Implications

20. The Department of Community and Children’s Services Business Plan for 
2020 – 21 is aligned to both corporate and departmental priorities.

Page 18



7

Security implications

21. There are no specific security implications in relation to the budget or business 
plan but many of our workstreams contribute to the departmental priority ‘safe’ 
with the aim of people of all ages living in safe communities, our homes are safe 
and well maintained and our estates are protected from harm. 

Public sector equality duty

22. Promoting equality, fostering good relations and reducing discrimination are all 
integral elements of the work of the department as demonstrated in some of the 
work included in the high-level summary business plan. The department 
specifically considers this in service and policy development through Tests of 
Relevance and Equality Impact Assessments.

Conclusion

23. This report presents the budget estimates and final high-level summary Business 
Plan for 2020/21 for the Community & Children’s Services Department for 
Members to consider and approve.

Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Committee Summary Budget – City Fund
 Appendix 2 – Support Services and Capital Charges from / to Community & 

Children’s Services Committee
 Appendix 3 – Capital Project Bids for 2020/21
 Appendix 4 – Original 2019/20 budget to Latest Approved 2019/20 Budget
 Appendix 5- Original 2019/20 Budget to Original 2020/21 budget
 Appendix 6 – Final high-level summary Business Plan 2020/21

Louise Said 
Senior Accountant, Chamberlains
T: 020 7332 1917
E: Louise.said@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Ellie Ward 
Interim Head of Strategy and Performance 
T: 020 7332 1535
E: Ellie.ward@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 19



8

Appendix 1: Community and Children’s Services Summary – City Fund

Analysis of Service Expenditure Local or 
Central 

Risk

Actual

2018/19
£’000

Original

Budget
2019/20

£’000

Latest 
Approved

Budget
2019/20

£’000

Original

Budget
2020/21

£’000

Movement
2019-20

to
2020-21

£’000

Para 
ref

EXPENDITURE
Employees
Employees – mainly social workers 
dealing with Asylum Seekers and staff 
paid by Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

L
C

(6,568)
(428)

(5,979)
(444)

(6,629)
(536)

(6,294)
(480)

(315)
(36)

8
8

Premises Related Expenses(see note i)
Premises Related Expenses (SRP: 
Islington Arts Factory)

L
C

(332)
(127)

(277)
(35)

(278)
(35)

(271)
(42)

6
(7)

City Surveyor – R&M
City Surveyor – Cleaning

L
L

(15)
(2)

(19)
(8)

(12)
(8)

(9)
(0)

10
8

Transport-related Expenses
Home to School Transport (met from 
DSG)

L
C

(19)
(93)

(24)
(72)

(29)
(72)

(21)
(72)

3
0

Supplies and Services (mainly 
professional fees which are largely met 
from grant income plus expenses relating 
to contracts such as Broadway) 

L (4,144) (3,921) (4,910) (3,927) (6)

Supplies and Services (mainly costs of 
our private, voluntary and independent 
childcare providers which are met from 
DSG)

C (532) (238) (574) (607) (369) 7

Third Party Payments (mainly social care 
clients plus contract costs such as 
Toynbee Hall Advice and providers of 
adult learning)

L (4,528) (5,305) (5,928) (5,237) 68

Third Party Payments (mainly agency 
costs relating to asylum seekers plus 
costs that are met from DSG)

C (3,837) (3,943) (4,638) (4,388) (445) 7

Transfer Payments (mainly payment to 
Fusion Lifestyle funded by income from 
London Marathon Charitable Trust)

L (209) (247) (247) (190) 57

Rent allowances – funded by Department 
for Work and Pensions (DWP) rent benefit 
rebates)

C (4,289) (6,172) (6,172) (6,172) 0

Capital charges C (9) 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure

CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE

(25,132) (26,684) (30,068) (27,710) (1,026)

Page 20



9

CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS PAGE
Analysis of Service Expenditure

Local or 
Central 

Risk

Actual

2018/19
£’000

Original

Budget
2019/20

£’000

Latest 
Approved

Budget
2019/20

£’000

Original

Budget
2020/21

£’000

Movement
2019-20

to
2020/21

£’000

Para 
ref

INCOME
Government Grants (mainly Public Health 
and Skills Funding Agency grant income)

L 3,380 3,055 4,313 3,277 222 7

Government Grants (mainly DSG, DWP 
rent benefit rebates, Home Office funding)

C 7,759 9,696 10,647 10,395 699 7

other grants, reimbursements and 
contributions (mainly B&B rent 
allowances, S256 Monies and London 
Marathon Charitable Trust

L 647 635 1,167 594 (41)

other grants, reimbursements and 
contributions (City’s Cash contributions 
towards Toynbee Hall contract and 
Strings project at Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School)

C 144 184 184 184 0

Customer, client receipts (mainly fee 
income and client contributions towards 
their social care packages)
Customer, client receipts
Transfers from Public Health Reserve

L

C
L

1,101

17
        15

1,068

35
196

1,058

35
221

955

35
93

(113)

0
(103)

Transfer from Parking Meter Reserves (in 
relation to concessionary fares and taxi 
cards)
Recharge to capital project

C

C

619

2

571

0

571

0

578

0

7

0
Total Income 13,684 15,440 18,196 16,111 671

TOTAL EXPENDITURE BEFORE 
SUPPORT SERVICES AND CAPITAL 
CHARGES

(11,448) (11,244) (11,872) (11,599) (355)

SUPPORT SERVICES AND CAPITAL 
CHARGES

Central Support Services and Capital 
Charges

(2,934) (2,824) (2,630) (2, 427) 397 App 
2

Recharges within Fund 661 628 403 375 (253)
Total Support Services and Capital 
Charges

(2,273) (2,196) (2,227) (2,052) 144

TOTAL NET (EXPENDITURE) / INCOME (13,721) (13,440) (14,099) (13,651) (211)

Notes – Examples of types of service expenditure:

(i) Premises Related Expenses – includes repairs and maintenance, energy costs, rates, and water services.

Page 21



10

Appendix 2: Support Service and Capital Charges from/to Community and 
Children’s Services Committee

Support Service and Capital Charges 
Actual

2018/19
£000

            
Original
 Budget
2019/20

£000

Latest 
Approved

Budget
2019/20

£000

            
Original
 Budget
2020/21

£000

Administrative Buildings
City Surveyor’s Employee Recharge
Insurance
IS Recharges – Chamberlain
Capital Charges
Support Services –
  Chamberlain
  Comptroller and City Solicitor
  Town Clerk
  City Surveyor
  CPS

(244)
(13)
(47)

(758)
(498)

(422)
(429)
(334)

(61)
(128)

(239)
(13)
(45)

(685)
(475)

(415)
(429)
(327)

(60)
(136)

(271)
(1)

(52)
(723)
(453)

(476)
(134)
(318)

(62)
(140)

(285)
(1)

(54)
(634)
(461)

(407)
(101)
(295)

(63)
(126)

Total Support Services and Capital 
Charges

(2,934) (2,824) (2,630) (2,427)

Recharges Within Funds
Corporate and Democratic Core – Finance 
Committee
HRA
Barbican Residential Committee

32
583

46

32
553

43

32
325

46

32
297

46
Total Support Service and Capital 
Charges (2,273) (2,196) (2,227) (2,052)

Page 22



11

Appendix 3 (Community and Children’s Services)

Capital Project Bids for 2020/21 – all subject to approval by Finance Committee and 
Court of Common Council

Project - Rough Sleeping, High support hostel (Option 1)
Status: - Not yet in gateway

Project - Rough Sleeping, High support hostel (Option 2)
Status - Not yet in gateway

Project - Rough Sleeping, Assessment Hub
Status - Not yet in gateway

Project - City of London Primary Academy Islington (COLPI) temporary site
Status - Not yet in gateway

Project - Golden Lane Area Lighting and Accessibility
Status - Gateway 1-2

Project - Frobisher Crescent, Barbican Estate – fire safety improvement 
measures

Status - Not yet in gateway

Page 23



12

Appendix 4: Movement between 2019/20 Original Book Budget and 2019/20 
Latest Approved Budget

£’000

Original Budget 2019/20 (Excluding support service and capital charges) (11,244)

Increase in Local risk budget as agreed by Policy & Resources 
Increase in Central risk base budget due to successful bids from the 
Priorities Investment Pot
Increase in budget to cover apprentices which are centrally funded
Other adjustments

(361)
(167)

(86)
(21)

Decrease in Surveyors repairs and maintenance charge 7

Latest Approved Budget (excluding support services and capital 
charges)

(11,872)

Page 24



13

Appendix 5: Movement between 2019/20 Original Book Budget and 2020/21 
Original Book Budget

£’000

Original Budget 2019/20 (Excluding support service and capital charges) (11,244)

Increase in Local risk budget as agreed by Policy & Resources 
Increase in Central risk base budget due to successful bids from the 
Priorities Investment Pot
Savings as per Fundamental review
Other adjustments

(216)
(151)

54
(42)

Original Budget 2020/21 (excluding support services and capital 
charges)

(11,599)

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



(C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

an
d

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
er

vi
ce

s)
 2

0
2

0
/2

1
 

Our aims and objectives are...  

Our major workstreams this year will be… 

Capital Spending 

Where our money comes from Where our money is spent 

Our Impact 

Safe - People of all ages live in safe communities, our homes are 

safe and well maintained and our estates are protected from harm 

Potential - People of all ages are prepared to flourish in a rapidly 

changing world through exceptional education, cultural and crea-

tive learning and skills which link to the world of work 

Independence, Involvement and Choice - People of all ages can live 

independently, play a role in their communities and exercise choice 

over their services 

Health and Wellbeing - People of all ages enjoy good mental and 

physical health and wellbeing 

Community -  People of all ages feel part of, engaged with and able 

to shape their community 

• Achieving excellence for our service users through delivery of our 
services including social care, homelessness, housing, libraries, 
education and early years 

• Supporting and improving the health and wellbeing of all our 
communities in the square mile 

• Delivering new affordable homes and investing in our current 
homes and estates across London 

• Ensuring people are safe and secure across all our work and com-
munities 

• Developing and supporting the capacity of the City of London’s 
voluntary and community sectors 

• Working with our service users and stakeholders to  co-produce 
our services 

• Influencing wider health and social care agendas to ensure City of 
London needs are recognised and met 

Forecast expenditure on Major Works programme in 2020/21: 

£21,364,750 

In 2019 / 20 we: 

• Supported the improvement in the quality of life of 95% of participants in  community 

activities and  volunteering and made a positive impact on family health and wellbeing 

for 97% of respondents at children’s events at libraries  

• Delivered the first London Careers festival (attended by over 5,000 pupils) with 92% of 

those surveyed saying it helped them to think of new jobs 

• Celebrated  3 of our City family of schools being rated outstanding by Ofsted  

• Achieved the seventh lowest average cost in London across our adult placements 

• Delivered  10 new homes on Middlesex Street Estate to meet housing need 

• Supported 100% of children in care to be in education or training  

• 96% of Dragon Café visitors agreed or strongly agreed that the café helped to improve 

their mental wellbeing  (Q3) 

In 2020 / 21 we will: 

• Ensure better access to healthcare for those sleeping rough  

• Facilitate better access to mental health services for residents and workers through 

the new Mental Health Centre 

• Deliver reductions in fuel poverty through installation of windows and / or new 

central heating systems to over 1000 homes that will increase energy efficiency 

• Continue to deliver efficiency savings through our commissioning activity 

• Continue to outperform the Government set target for Delayed Transfers of Care 

P
age 27



(C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

an
d

 C
h

ild
re

n
’s

 S
er

vi
ce

s)
 2

0
2

0
/2

1
 

What’s changed since last year... 

Plans under development... 

Key Customer Feedback 

Key Corporate Risks 

Equalities &        

Inclusion 

 Our delivery partners          

and key stakeholders Rationalised approaches and achieved savings with the launch of a new integrated 

early intervention and prevention service  

Deployed a practice development model in Children’s Social Care with all staff         

undertaking training the systemic model of social work 

Delivered a refurbishment of Galleywall Primary School, part of the City family of 

schools 

Developed a number of new strategies including homelessness, carers, community 

centres and housing 

Increased focus on mental health with appointment of providers to deliver a mental 

health centre, signing the prevention concordat for better health and jointly funding a 

street triage service 

Improved services to customers with the introduction of an Estates Service Standard 

Co-produced services with residents including youth services, the SEND parents board, 

and a community lead model for the development of City Healthwatch  

Focused more on delivery of outcomes from services including an outcomes delivery 

board for the new early intervention and prevention service 

• Enhanced provision to meet the needs of rough sleepers on the streets of the 

Square Mile 

• Using technology  more effectively to support independence across our               

communities  

• Maximising use of the new Aldgate Community Centre 

• Delivering a new programme, funded externally, to tackle loneliness and make    

connections by creating opportunities in Barbican Library for accidental encounters 

with other people in the community 

• Led on development of the 
Corporation’s  Gender  
Identity Policy 

• Developed targeted         
culturally sensitive  

    commissioned services 
• Delivered culturally  sensi-

tive services to our children 
in care with  provision of 
prayer mats   

• Supported 19,218 pupils 
from schools across London 
with above average levels of 
Pupil Premium to access 
Culture Mile learning      
venues  

• Residents  

• Our tenants 

• City Workers 

• Pupils in our Family of 

Schools  

• Adult learners  

• The voluntary sector  

• Wide range of commis-

sioned providers 

• East London Health and 

Care Partnership 

• City and Hackney, and   

Tower Hamlets CCGs 

• Other Local Authorities 

 

• Safeguarding      

• Failure to deliver City of London Academy Expansion Pro-

gramme 

• 87.9% of adult social care services users said that services 

have made them feel safe and secure 

• 100% of respondents in a survey of children in care gave their 

social worker top marks in terms of finding them easy to get 

in touch with, getting a lot of help and being asked for their 

views   

• 92% of our tenants are satisfied with the service provided by 
    the City of London Housing Service (2018/19 survey) 

P
age 28



Committee: Dated:
Community and Children’s Services
Subject:
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and Capital Budgets 
2020/21
Report of:
The Chamberlain 
The Director of Community & Children's Services

7 February 2020 

Report author:
Goshe Munir/Mark Jarvis – Chamberlains
Paul Murtagh – Community and Children’s Services

For Decision

Summary

1. This report is the annual submission of the revenue and capital budgets 
overseen by your Committee.  In particular it seeks approval for the provisional 
revenue budget for 2020/21, for subsequent submission to the Finance 
Committee.  Details of the HRA draft capital budget are also provided.   

2. The provisional nature of the revenue budgets particularly recognises that further 
revisions might arise from the necessary budget adjustments resulting from 
corporate projects. 

3. There is a significant planned investment in the next year in the major works 
capital programme to upgrade the fabric of the HRA social housing. 

4. The General Housing Revenue Reserve position is summarised below:-

Table 1 General Housing Revenue 
Reserve

Original 
Budget 
2019/20            

£000

Original 
Budget 
2020/21            

£000

Movement

Service Expenditure (13,167) (13,237) (70)

Service Income 14,348 15,249 901
Other Movements (100) 0 100
Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve (3,682) (2,878) 804
    
Deficit in year (2,601) (866) 1,735
Balance brought forward 4,121 1,978 (2,143)
Balance carried forward 1,520 1,112 (408)

Page 29

Agenda Item 10



5. Overall, the 2020/21 provisional budget indicates a deficit for the year of £866k 
a decrease of £1,735k over the 2019/20 budget. The decrease is mainly due to  
an increased estimate of service charge recovery costs, increased commercial 
income and reduced capital charges. Revenue Reserves at 31 March 2021 are 
now expected to be £1,112,000. 

6. The overall Major Repairs Reserve (MRR) position is summarised below:-

Table 2 Major Repairs Reserve

Original 
Budget 
2019/20            

£000

Orginal 
Budget 
2020/21 

£000

Movement

Transfer from General Housing Revenue 
Reserve (see contra Table 1) 3,682 2,878 (804)

Net capital expenditure after grant funding (16,485) (24,383) (7,898)

City Fund Loan 12,985 22,000 9,015
 
Movement in MRR in year 182 495 313
Balance brought forward 0 674 674
 
Balance carried forward 182 1,169 987

 The planned reduction in the Major Repairs Reserve reflects the very 
significant investment in the capital programme for major works 
across the 5-year asset management plan, including the decent 
homes program, window renewal, roof replacements and fire doors. 

Recommendations

7. The Committee is requested to:

a) review the provisional 2020/21 revenue budget to ensure that it reflects the 
Committee’s objectives and, if so, approve the proposed budget for 
submission to the Finance Committee. 

b) review and approve the draft capital budget; 

c) authorise the Chamberlain to revise these budgets to allow for further 
implications arising from departmental reorganisations and other reviews.

Page 30



Main Report

Management of the Housing Revenue Account

8. The HRA is ring-fenced by legislation which means that the account must be 
financially self-supporting.  To enable this, a 30-year plan has been produced. 
The budgets in this report are included as an element of the plan.  Although the 
“capital account’’ is not ring fenced by law, the respective financial positions of 
the HRA and the City Fund have meant that capital expenditure is financed 
without placing a burden on the use of City Fund resources.  HRA related capital 
expenditure continues to be funded from the HRA, including the Major Repairs 
Reserve, a city fund loan and homeowners making their appropriate 
contributions.  

Business Planning Priorities 

9. A number of development opportunities and major works projects will require 
considerable resource input but will result in increased social housing capacity 
and improvements to our properties, particularly in terms of energy efficiency.

Proposed Budget Position 2019/20 and 2020/21

10.The detailed budgets are set out in table 3 over the page.

Page 31



Actual 
2018-19 

£000
Table 3 - HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT  

Original 
Budget 
2019-20 
£000

Latest 
Budget 
2019/20 

£000

Original 
Budget 
2020-21 

£000

Movement 
2019-20 to 

2020-21 
£000

Paragraph 
Ref  

 LOCAL RISK      

 Expenditure      

(4,085)
Repairs, Maintenance & 
Improvements (3,493) (3,499) (3,453) 40 Appendix 1

(2,693) Supplementary Revenue Budgets (973) (1,482) (816) 157 12

(1,125)
Technical Services and City 
Surveyor’s Costs (1,210) (1,125) (1,181) 29  

(3,730) Employee Cost (4,165) (4,167) (4,556) (391) 13

(801) Premises & Other Support Cost (709) (805) (530) 179 14
(2,434) Specialised Support Services (2,617) (2,706) (2,701) (84) 15

(14,868) TOTAL Expenditure (13,167) (13,784) (13,237) (70)  

 Income      

   Rent      

10,558     Dwellings 10,418 10,654 10,705 287 16

469     Car Parking 631 653 658 27  

129     Baggage Stores 128 130 130 2  

1,207     Commercial 1,503 1,530 1,609 106 17

 Charges for Services & Facilities    0  

102     Community Facilities 118 112 112 (6)  

2,059     Service Charges 1,497 1,973 1,998 501 18

35     Other 53 37 37 (16)  

14,558 TOTAL Income 14,348 15,089 15,249 901  

(310) NET INCOME FROM SERVICES 1,181 1,305 2,012 831  

0 Loan Charges – Interest (200) 0 0 200

114 Interest Receivable 100 100 0 (100)  

(196) NET OPERATING INCOME 1,081 1,405 2,012 931  

0 Loan Charges – Principal 0 0 0 0

(3,204) Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve (3,682) (3,195) (2,878) 804  

(3,400)
Surplus / (deficit)  
FOR THE YEAR (2,601) (1,790) (866) 1,735  

7,168 Surplus brought forward 4,121 3,768 1,978 (2,143)  

3,768 SURPLUS CARRIED FORWARD 1,520 1,978 1,112 (408)  

Page 32



11.Expenditure and unfavourable variances are presented in brackets.  Only 
significant variances (generally those greater than £50,000) have been 
commented on in the following paragraphs.

12.The reduction of £157,000 in the Supplementary Revenue Property Projects 
cost reflects the change in the mix of the major projects due to be undertaken in 
2020/21. 

13.An increase of £391,000 in the Employee Cost is due to the annual salary  
increment of 2% for 2020/21 and higher temporary agency costs.
 

14.Premises & Other Support Cost has decreased due to the reduction in 
recharges cost within committee and across funds of £179,000. 

15.An increase of £84,000 in the Specialised Support Services reflects changes to 
grade A posts where there is a new higher spinal salary point which has 
increased the cost of Caretaking and Cleaning services.

16.A favourable variance of £287,000 in tenant rental income is due to the 
additional Rent Fiscal week being charged to tenants for 53 weeks, instead of 
52 weeks in 2019/20. 

17.The increased income off £106,000 for Commercial properties  is based on 
latest Estimated Rental Values (ERV) provided by our external agent following a 
rent review.

18.The increase in income for service charges of £501,000 is due to a revision to 
the estimates of cost recovery in the 2019/20 original budget. The revised 
estimates reflect actual levels of recovery in 2018/19 and the revised estimates 
for 2019/20.  

Page 33



Actual 
2018-19 

£000
Table 4  - HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT  

Original 
Budget 
2019-20 

£000

Latest 
Budget 
2019/20 

£000

Original 
Budget 
2020-21 

£000

Movement 
2019-20 to 

2020-21 
£000

Paragraph 
Ref  

 MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE (MRR)      
 Balance Brought Forward         

3,204 Transfer from HRA 3,682 3,195 2,878 (804)  
(10,855) Capital Expenditure (49,117) (16,218) (48,741) 376  

2,429 Section 106 / Grants 26,912 7,875 18,218 (8,694)  
1,167 Reimbursements from homeowners 4,906 1,568 6,140 1,234  
1,000 RTB Receipts 814 1,000 0 (814)  

226 Community Infrastructure Levy 0     
270 GLA Grant 0     

0 City Fund Loan 12,985 0 22,000 9,015  
(2,559) Transfer from/(to) reserve for year 182 (2,580) 495 313  

5,813 Balance Brought Forward 0 3,254 674 674  

3,254 MRR BALANCE CARRIED 
FORWARD 182 674 1,169 987

19.Analysis of the movement in manpower and related staff costs are shown in 
Table 5 below.  These costs are spread across Direct Employee Cost, Technical 
Services and Specialised Support Services.

Table 5 Original Budget
2020/21

Original Budget 
2019/20

Manpower statement Manpower Estimated Manpower Estimated

Full-time cost Full-time cost
equivalent £000 equivalent £000

Supervision and Management 37 (1,876) 36 (1,968)

Estate Officers 13 (497) 13 (504)

Porter/Cleaners 23 (817) 24 (919)

Gardeners 4 (125) 4 (127)

Wardens 0 (18) 0 (20)

Technical Services ( Revenue and Capital ) 40 (2,338) 42 (2,628)

TOTAL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 117 (5,671) 119 (6,166)

Potential Further Budget Developments

20.The provisional nature of the 2019/20 revenue budget recognises that further 
revisions may be required, including in relation to:

Revenue Budget 2019/20

21.The forecast outturn for the current year is in line with the Latest Approved 
Budget.

Page 34



Draft Capital and Supplementary Revenue Projects

Estate
Exp. Pre 
01/04/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Later 
Years Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Pre-implementation        

                     -   

Avondale                
  

               
5       394              

          
399 

Cullum                      
18 

           
132    1,498    1,498                             

       
3,146 

Dron                        
8 

             
57       888                           

          
952 

Golden Lane                      
41 

           
389    2,963    3,145 

       
2,593 

       
9,131 

Holloway                        
1 

           
133    1,602         23               

       
1,759 

Isleden                      
60 

               
1           6               

            
67 

Southwark                      
61 

           
363    3,136               

       
3,560 

Sydenham                    
725 

        
1,582    1,589  24,752 

     
14,618 

     
43,266 

Various                    
141 

           
639  13,417    4,976 

       
1,200 

     
20,373 

William Blake                        
5 

             
70    1,031 

       
1,106 

Windsor                        
0 

             
41       838 

          
879 

Sub-total Pre-
implementation Costs

                
1,061 

        
3,412  27,361  34,394 

     
18,410 

             
0 0  

     
84,638 

Page 35



Authority to start work 
granted

Exp. Pre 
01/04/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Later 
Years Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Avondale                 
7,930 

        
1,649         30        

9,609 

Cullum                    
101 

           
680         19           

800 

Dron                    
168 

           
528           9           

705 

Golden Lane               
14,042 

           
253 

     
14,295 

Holloway                    
595 

             
51 

          
646 

Isleden                                     2 
              

2 

Middlesex                 
2,030 

        
2,948    2,573       615        

8,166 

COLPAI Housing                 
3,221 

        
7,305  17,063    8,887      

36,475 

Southwark                                    
24         35             

59 

Sydenham                      
75 

             
74                    

149 

Various                    
535 

           
382       549        

1,466 

William Blake                    
110 

           
541         10           

661 

Windsor                    
386 

             
28                      

414 

York Way                    
581 

           
476    2,030       615        

3,702 
Sub-total Authority to Start 
Work

              
29,774 

      
14,939  22,317  10,117 

             
0 0 0

     
77,147 

 
Exp. Pre 
01/04/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Later 
Years Total

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

TOTAL COMMUNITY & 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES - 
HRA

              
30,835 

      
18,351  49,678  44,510 

     
18,410 

             
0 

            -
0  

   
161,786 

Of this,         

Capital
              

29,774 
      

16,218 
 

48,741 
 

44,510 
     

18,410 
             

-             -      157,653 

Supplementary Revenue
                

1,061 
        

2,133 
      

937 
          

1             -   
             

-             -          4,132 
              

30,835 
      

18,351 
 

49,678 
 

44,511 
     

18,410 
             

-             -      161,786

Page 36



Funded by        

Long Lessee contributions  
        

2,168 
   

6,249 
   

2,897 
       

1,836             -               -        13,150 
External contributions  (S106, 
grants)  

        
7,926 

 
18,230 

 
33,638 

     
14,618             -               -        74,412 

CIL               -            -            -               -               -               -                -   

Borrowing               -   
      

22,000   5,000               -               -               -   
             

27,000   

Right to Buy Receipts  
        

1,000          -            -               -               -               -          1,000 

HRA balances  
        

1,482 
      

816            -               -               -               -          2,298 

Major Repairs Reserve  
        

5,776  2,383   2,975 
       

1,956             -               -        13,090 
      

18,352 
 

49,678 
 

44,510 
     

18,410             -               -      130,950 

1. The latest estimated costs for the Committee’s draft capital and 
supplementary revenue projects are summarised in the tables above. 

2. Pre-implementation costs comprise feasibility and option appraisal 
expenditure which has been approved in accordance with the project 
procedure, prior to authority to start work. 

3. The anticipated funding of this significant programme is indicated above, 
with the 2019/20 and 2020/21 financial impact on HRA resources being 
reflected in the revenue estimates figures included elsewhere in this report.  
In addition, the HRA will need to borrow from the City Fund in order to 
finance its current capital programme.

4. The latest Capital and Supplementary Revenue Project budgets will be 
presented to the Court of Common Council for formal approval in March 
2020.

Appendices:
Appendix A: Schedule of Repairs, Maintenance and Improvements.

Dr Peter Kane       Andrew Carter 
Chamberlains                         Director of Community & Children Services

     

Page 37



Contacts:

Goshe Munir
Senior Accountant – Chamberlains 
T: 020 7332-1571E: Goshe.Munir@Cityoflondon.gov.uk

Mark Jarvis
Head of Finance – Chamberlains
T: 020 7332-1223E: Mark.Jarvis@Cityoflondon.gov.uk

Paul Murtagh
Assistant Director Barbican & Property Services– Community and Children’s 
Services
T: 020 7332 3015E: Paul.Murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 38

mailto:Goshe.Munir@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.Jarvis@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:Paul.Murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix A

REPAIRS, MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENTS  

  

Responsible Officer is the Director of Community and Children's 
Services  

 Original 
Budget 
2019/20 

£000 

Revised 
Budget 
2019/20 

£000

Original 
Budget 
2020/21 

£000

GENERAL     

BREAKDOWN AND EMERGENCY REPAIRS     

  Building E (1407) (1,407) (1,407)

  Electrical E (285) (285) (285)

  Lifts E (20) (15) (15)

  Heating and Ventilation E (218) (260) (260)

  Recharge and Insurance Claims E (50) (50) (50)

  (1,980) (2,017) (2,017)

CONTRACT SERVICING     

  Building E (72) (72) (72)

  Electrical E (235) (235) (200)

  Lifts E (144) (152) (152)

  Boilers E (100) (150) (150)

  Heating E (500) (500) (500)

  (1051) (1,109) (1,074)

CYCLICAL WORK AND MINOR IMPROVEMENTS     

  Elderly/Disabled - Internal Redecorations E (12) (12) (12)

  Portable Appliance Testing E (2) (2) (2)

  Asbestos Management Contingency E (250) (200) (200)

  Redecorations for Elderly/Disabled E  (1)  

  Fees for Feasibility Studies A (40) (30) (30)

  Energy Performance Certification Work E (15) (5) (5)

  Health and Safety Contingency E (30)   

  Water supply works E (88) (88) (88)

  Electrical Testing A  (10)  

  Asset Management plan A (25) (25) (25)

  (462) (373) (362)

     

TOTAL GENERAL  (3,493) (3,499) (3,453)

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



1

Summary

This annual report provides information on the educational outcomes for primary 
aged children who live in the City of London. The purpose of the report is to keep 
Members informed about education performance of these pupils.  

The data used to compile this report is from a range of sources. Comparisons have 
been made between the performance of City of London resident children attending 
Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School, Prior Weston Primary School and 
City of London Primary Islington (COLPI). This data is also compared with the 
inner London and national performance outcomes, so Members get a London and 
national perspective on the outcomes for City primary pupils. The analysis is for 
the last full academic year 2018/19, and includes some trends from 2013/14, 
where the data remains relevant and available.  

The small size of the City of London’s school and residential population means the 
education statistics for the City can fluctuate from year to year, more than other 
local authorities with bigger populations. It is very important to note that the 
number of children in some of the analyses are often very small.  In a small cohort 
a slight change in numbers can make a large change as a percentage.    

This report covers the period before changes to the National Curriculum and the 
Children and Families Act 2014. Commentary is provided in the report to guide 
Members where relevant. 

Recommendation

Members are asked to: 

 Note the report. 

Committee: Dated:

Community and Children’s Services Committee 07/02/2020 
Subject:
Education Performance for City Primary Pupils 2019 Public
Report of: 
Andrew Carter, Director of Community and Children’s 
Services
Report author:
Theresa Shortland, Head of Service – Education and Early 
Years   

For Information

Page 41

Agenda Item 11



2

Main Report

Background 

1. This report provides information for the 2018/19 academic year and 
focuses on the progress of pupils who are residents of the City of London 
and who attend the primary schools with the highest number of City of 
London residents: Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School, Prior 
Weston Primary School, and City of London Primary Islington.

2. In October 2019 we were aware of 91 schools that City of London resident 
children attended. This includes primary and secondary aged pupils in 
maintained and independent schools and those pupils with an Education, 
Health and Care Plan (EHCP).

Education outcomes in 2018/19

3. The percentage of City of London children reaching the ‘Good Level of 
Development’ benchmark in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile 
(EYFSP) was the highest of any local authority in England at 85.1%. The 
percentage in London was 74.1 and 71.8 nationally. 

4. Phonics screening check outcomes for Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School in Year 1 were ranked first or second out of all 152 
English local authorities.

5. Key Stage 1 results for the percentage reaching the expected standard 
for 2018/19 for Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School are in the 
highest percentile out of all 152 local authorities in England for all three 
core subjects.  

6. Key Stage 2 results show that the percentage of pupils at Sir John 
Cass’s Foundation Primary School reaching the expected grade for 
reading, writing and mathematics combined, at 82%, put the City of 
London Corporation in first place out of every local authority in England. 
The percentage reaching the higher level for this measure (29%) means 
that the City of London was first place when ranked against local 
authorities in England for 2018/19.

7. The annual report (Appendix 1) provides a more detailed analyses of the 
education performance outcomes for City children. 

Free School Meals

8. The report also presents an analysis of the number of children entitled to 
free school meals who attend Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary 
School. Since 2013, the rate of eligibility has been on a continued 
downward trend for those entitled to and taking up free school meals. The 

Page 42



3

cohort of children entitled to free school meals has been about one-ninth 
of the children on school roll and lower than the rates for England and 
Inner London.

9. Pupil premium is additional funding element for maintained schools in 
England. It is designed to help disadvantaged pupils of all abilities 
perform better and close the gap between them and their peers. Children 
on free school meals are entitled to pupil premium. In the academic year 
2018/19, 15.8% of statutory aged pupils on roll at Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School had funded ‘pupil premium’ status in October 
2019.

Children with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)

10.The proportion of children with SEND at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School has increased in recent years. The percentage of pupils 
with SEND support varies from year to year due to the small size of the 
school. 

11.The proportion of pupils with SEND support has risen from 10.3% in 
2014/15 to 17.5% in 2018/19. The proportion of pupils with an EHCP has 
reduced in this period and was 1.8% in 2018/19. 

School Attendance
12. In 2017/18, the rate of absence for all three terms for the City of London, 

was 3.2%, the second lowest rate for England. The rate was about 
average for those recorded by the City over the previous four years.

13.Persistent absence for 2017/18 data for three terms was 3.3%. The City 
of London had the lowest rate of persistent absenteeism in England. The 
Inner London rate for 2017/18 was (8.9%).

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

14.The results demonstrate that children in the City of London have the 
opportunity to receive outstanding teaching and learning opportunities 
that help to meet the City of London’s Children and Young People’s Plan 
objectives of improving educational outcomes for all children. 

Financial Implications 

15.There are no funding implications associated with this report.

Page 43



4

Conclusion

16.The educational outcomes for City of London children, as presented in 
this report, demonstrate the continued high-quality level of education and 
learning opportunities for City of London children. The one maintained 
primary school in the City is ranked in the top performing schools in the 
country. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Primary Education in The City of London, Annual Report 2019 

Theresa Shortland
Head of Service, Education and Early Years 

T: 020 7332 3047  
E: Theresa.shortland@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 44

mailto:Theresa.shortland@cityoflondon.gov.uk


1

Education in 
The City of London

Annual Report 2019

Page 45

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/Pages/default.aspx


2

Table of Contents

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................3

2. Summary of key findings .......................................................................................3

3. Demographics........................................................................................................4

3.1 Population ..................................................................................................................4

3.2 Schools.......................................................................................................................4

4. Quality of provision - Ofsted Inspections ...............................................................6

5. Attainment outcomes .............................................................................................7

5.1 Health warning about small numbers .........................................................................7

5.2 Early Years Foundation Stage ...................................................................................7

5.3 Phonics in Year 1 .......................................................................................................8

5.4 Key Stage 1................................................................................................................9

5.5 Key Stage 2..............................................................................................................11

6. Attendance...........................................................................................................18

7. Admissions ..........................................................................................................19

7.1 Primary school admissions.......................................................................................19

7.2 Secondary school admissions..................................................................................19

Suggested Questions for Governors…………………………………………………….21

Report Produced by:
Data & Performance Team
Strategy & Commissioning
People's Services
London Borough of Islington

Page 46



3

1. Introduction

This annual report looks at how well the education service in the City of London is 
meeting our aspirations for children and young people’s educational outcomes.  The 
report is one of the ways in which we keep members, governors and our wider 
partners informed about education performance in the City of London.   

The data in this report are drawn from a range of sources.  Where available, 
comparisons have been made between performance of City of London resident 
children in Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School and Islington schools, all 
pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School, City of London residents 
attending Prior Weston (and for Early Years Foundation Stage, The City of London 
Primary Academy Islington) and the Inner London and national performance.  The 
analyses cover the last full academic year, 2018/19 and include historical data from 
2015/16, and, where appropriate from 2014/15.  The small size of the City of 
London’s school and residential population means its education statistics are liable to 
fluctuate from year to year by a larger amount than local authorities with bigger 
populations.  

2. Summary of key findings

Quality of provision

 Our one local authority maintained school, Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School, has been judged outstanding for overall effectiveness in 
its last two Ofsted inspections (2013 and 2008).

Outcomes for children and young people

 Early Years Foundation Stage In 2018/19 the percentage of City of 
London children reaching the ‘Good Level of Development’ benchmark 
was the highest of any L.A. in England.  The results for City residents 
attending the Islington schools Prior Weston and City of London Primary 
Academy Islington; City residents at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary 
School, a private or voluntary institution in the City of London or an 
Islington school as well as the results for Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School were between 11 and 24 percentage points above the 
national average for this benchmark.

 Phonics screening check Outcomes for the City of London (Sir John 
Cass’s Foundation Primary School) in 2018/19 was ranked first or second 
out of all 152 English local authorities1. 

 Key Stage 1 Results for the percentage reaching the expected standard 
for 2018-19 for Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School are in the 
highest percentile out of all 152 LA’s in England1 for all three core 
subjects.  

1 Because of small numbers the 2019 results of the City of London for Phonics and KS1 assessments 
were suppressed by the DfE along with those for the Scilly Isles.  The figures for Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School are, however, above the figures for every published local authority. 

Page 47



4

 Key Stage 2 The percentage of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School reaching the expected grade for reading, writing and 
mathematics combined, at 82%, put the corporation in first place out of 
every local authority in England (152).  The percentage reaching the 
higher level for this measure (29%) means that the corporation was 1st 
place when ranked against local authorities in England for 2018/19.

Attendance and behaviour

 Absence in 2017/18, the rate of absence for all three terms for the City of 
London, was 3.2%, the second lowest rate for England.  The rate was 
about average for the rates recorded by the LA over the previous 4 years2.

 Persistent absence for the 2017/18 three term data was 3.3%. The City 
of London had the lowest rate of persistent absenteeism in England.  The 
Inner London rate for 2017/18 was (8.9%).

3. Demographics

1.1 Population
According to the GLA, the population of London grew at double the rate of the 
country as a whole between 2011 and 2015; and is set to increase further.  By 2021 
the Capital is forecast to exceed nine million residents. The GLA estimates the 
population of the City of London will drop from 7,483 in 2018 to 7,2773 in 2026 (a fall 
of 2.5%). 

GLA projections estimates there were 278 pupils of primary age (4 - 10) and 140 
pupils of secondary age (11 - 15) children living in the City of London in 2018.  The 
2019 GLA estimate of the population of children aged 11 to 15 is substantially lower 
than their estimates in previous years.  GLA projections have been volatile in recent 
years and they should be used alongside other data sources when planning places.  

City of London is the 28th most deprived local authority in London out of 33 according 
to the 2015 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (up from 32nd IMD 2010).

1.2 Schools
The City of London Corporation has one maintained primary school, eight sponsored 
academies as part of the City of London Academies Trust, and two co-sponsored 
academies in neighbouring boroughs. It also supports three independent schools, 
two based in the City and one in Surrey. The maintained primary school is Sir John 
Cass’s Foundation Primary School with Cass Child & Family Centre.  Primary aged 
children that live in the City of London local area attend Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School and a small number of schools in Islington, Tower Hamlets and 
Camden.  Secondary age children attend a range of schools including Islington 
secondary schools and schools in other neighbouring local authorities, including 
Tower Hamlets and Hackney.

2 DfE figures for the rate of absence for 6 half terms for 2018/19 were not available when this report was written.
3 The source data is from the Greater London Authority (GLA) central projection model. 
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/projections/ 

Page 48



5

Table 1 below shows the proportion of children eligible for free school meals (FSM) at 
Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School from 2015/16 to 2018/19.  The rate of 
eligibility for FSM was about a fifth of the cohort in January 2015 but fell in January 
2017 and since then has been about one ninth of the roll and lower than the rates for 
England and Inner London.  Some 15.8% of statutory aged pupils had funded ‘pupil 
premium’ status in October 2019.

Table 1: % FSM at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 2014/15 to 
2018/19 with comparators

% FSM Eligibility 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 20.8% 19.6% 11.3% 11.3% 11.2%
Inner London Primary Schools 26.4% 23.4% 21.3% 19.6% 22.2%
England Primary Schools 16.5% 15.2% 14.1% 13.7% 15.8%

Source: January School Census 2015 to 2019 & DfE SFR data, 

Graph 1: Proportion of Statutory Aged Children Eligible for Free School Meals 
(FSM) at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School from 2015/16 to 2019/20 
with comparators over time

2015 - 16 2016 - 17 2017 - 18 2018 - 19 2019-20
5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School Inner London England

Table 2: % SEN at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 2014/15 to 
2018/19 with comparators

SEN Type 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

SEN Support 10.3% 16.0% 14.9% 15.8% 17.5%Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School EHCP 3.6% 2.8% 2.9% 2.8% 1.8%

SEN Support 14.1% 13.4% 13.1% 13.0% 13.2%Inner London Primary 
Schools EHCP 2.9% 1.9% 1.9% 2.1% 2.4%

SEN Support 12.6% 12.1% 12.2% 12.4% 12.6%
England Primary Schools

EHCP 2.8% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.6%
 Source: January School Census 2015 to 2019 & DfE SFR data

Table 2 above shows the proportion of children with special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND) at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School and the rates for 
primary schools in Inner London and England.  The percentage of pupils with SEND 
Support varies from year to year due to the small size of the school.  The proportion 
of pupils with SEN support has risen from 10.3% in 2014-15 to 17.5% in 2018-19.  
The proportion of pupils with an Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan or 

Page 49



6

Statement was 3.6% 2014/15 but half that rate (1.8%) in 2018/19, closer to the rate 
for England. 
Graph 2 below shows the rate of SEN at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 
for 2018/19.  It shows that SEN at the school is higher than both the rate for England 
and Inner London.

Graph 2: Rates of SEN:  Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School, Inner 
London and England, 2018/19

Sir John Cass Inner London England
0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

Support EHCP

Quality of provision - Ofsted Inspections

Table 3: The last two Ofsted Inspection Judgements for Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School
Judgement Latest inspection 

18/04/13
Previous inspection 

26/09/084

Overall effectiveness Outstanding Outstanding
Achievement of pupils Outstanding NA
Quality of teaching Outstanding Good
Behaviour and safety of pupils Outstanding NA
Leadership and management Outstanding NA

Source: Ofsted Inspection Reports

Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School was last inspected by Ofsted in April 
2013, over six years ago, when it was judged to be outstanding for overall 
effectiveness and in all areas where judgements are made.  In the previous 
inspection it was also judged to be outstanding for overall effectiveness.  The Ofsted 
judgements from the last two inspections are shown in Table 3 shown above.

Two Islington primary schools, Prior Weston and The City of London Primary 
Academy Islington, have a significant proportion of children resident in the City of 
London on their rolls.  The Ofsted judgements from the last inspections are shown in 
Table 4 below.

4 The inspection of Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School in 2008 was a reduced tariff inspection and 
judgements were not made against all of the inspection criteria.

Page 50



7

Table 4: The last Ofsted Inspection Judgements for Prior Weston Primary 
School & City of London Primary Academy Islington

Prior Weston School Latest inspection 
08/03/18

Overall effectiveness Requires Improvement
Effectiveness of Leadership & Management Requires Improvement
Quality of teaching, Learning and Assessment Requires Improvement
Personal Development, Behaviour & Welfare Good
Outcomes for Pupils Requires Improvement
Early Years Provision Requires Improvement

City of London Primary Academy Islington Latest inspection 
05/11/19

Overall effectiveness Outstanding
Quality of Education Outstanding
Behaviour and Attitudes Outstanding
Personal Development Outstanding
Leadership and Management Outstanding
Early Years Provision Outstanding

Source: Ofsted Inspection Reports

4. Attainment outcomes

This section analyses the educational performance of the City of London, comparing 
the outcomes at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School with City of London 
resident children attending Prior Western School in Islington and all City of London 
resident children attending Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School or an 
Islington school, alongside the Inner London and England averages for 
benchmarking purposes.  The 2018/19 performance figure are the final results.

1.3 Health warning about small numbers
Please be aware that the numbers of children in some of the analyses are often very 
small, particularly when the yearly cohorts are split into sub-groups.  In a small cohort 
one pupil’s performance can make a large change in the percentage of the total.  
One should exercise caution when making comparisons of figures based on small 
numbers of children.  Three year averages have been provided where appropriate 
and these are likely to be a more reliable measure of performance than the annual 
figures.

1.4 Early Years Foundation Stage
At the end of Reception pupils are assessed across a range of areas against the 
Early Years Foundation Stage Profile.  Pupils are defined as having reached a ‘good 
level of development’ (GLD) if they are at least the expected level for the early 
learning goals in the prime areas of learning (personal, social & emotional 

Page 51



8

development; physical development and communication & language) as well as in 
the specific areas of mathematics and literacy.

Table 5: Percentage of pupils who have reached a Good Level of Development 
between 2014/15 and 2018/19 for the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS)

*PW = Prior Weston School, COL-P = City of London Primary Academy Islington.
Source: The City of London Education department, Islington’s Children’s Services and the DfE 

The EYFS results of Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School, City of London 
residents and City of London residents attending Prior Weston or the City of London 
Primary Islington were higher than the rates for Inner London and England for all five 
years.

1.5  Phonics in Year 1
Since 2012 schools have been required to administer a statutory phonics screening 
check5 of Year 1 pupils.  Each pupil tested must read 40 sounds out loud to their 
teacher. Graph 3 shows the percentage of pupils who passed the test.  Performance 
at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School has improved over time and the 
school’s results for 2018-19 were above those for both Inner London and England.

Table 6: Proportion of pupils passing the Phonics Screening 2014/15 to 2018/19

 % Year 1 Passed
% passed (32+ marks or 

80%+)
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Sir John Cass (CofL LA) 82.8% 90.0% 86.7% 91.5% 93.3%
CofL Residents at Prior Weston 90.9% 81.8% 88.9% 80.0% 80.0%
CofL Residents at SJC or LBI 87.0% 88.0% 85.7% 75.0% 88.2%
Inner London 80.0% 84.0% 85.0% 85.0% 84.0%
England 77.0% 81.0% 81.0% 82.0% 82.0%
Source: DfE Statistical First Releases LB Islington and the City of London

Table 6 above and Graph 3 below show the figures for City of London residents 
attending Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School and Islington schools as well 
as those for City of London residents attending Prior Weston School alongside the 
data for Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School.  The average pass rate for the 
last three years (2016/17 to 2018/19) for Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 
was 90.5%, the equivalent figure for both City of London residents attending Sir John 

5 Phonic marks range from 0 to 40.  A mark of 32 or above (80%+) is means that the required standard 
has been reached. 

EYFS: % gaining a ‘Good Level of 
Development’

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
No.s % No.s % No.s % No.s % No.s %

Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 23 76.7 21 70.0 61 77.0 31 77.4 25 83.3
CofL Residents at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School  & LBI 23 82.1 17 70.8 33 60.6 19 78.9 22 95.7

CofL Residents at PW or COL-P* 10 100 11 91.7 11 72.7 11 90.9 7 100
Inner London n/a 67.7 n/a 70.7 n/a 72.8 n/a 73.7 n/a 73.3
England n/a 66.3 n/a 69.3 n/a 70.7 n/a 71.5 n/a 71.8

Page 52



9

Cass’s Foundation Primary School and LBI schools and City of London residents 
attending Prior Weston was 83.0%.

Graph 3: % of Year 1 pupils passing the of phonics test 2014/15 to 2018/19

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Sir John Cass (CofL LA) CofL Residents at PW CofL Residents at SJC or LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Release  

1.6 Key Stage 1
All Year 2 pupils (rising 7 year olds) are assessed at the end of Key Stage 1 (KS1).  
Table 7 shows the number of children in each of the groups for Key Stage 1 results.  
The largest of these cohorts is Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School.  The 
figures below cover the four years that the new curriculum has been assessed in 
schools.  Figures prior to that date are not comparable and so are not included.

Table 7: Number of pupils per group in the Year 2 cohort 2015/16 - 2018/19
Key Stage 1: Numbers 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Sir John Cass Cohort 30 30 30 57
City of London at Prior Weston 10 10 7 8
City of London Residents at SJC or LBI 24 24 18 24

Source: Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School and Islington’s People’s Services.  The numbers 
in these groups are not mutually exclusive.

Table 7 above shows the small sizes of the cohorts being reported on.  Small figures 
need to be interpreted with extreme caution. 

Graph 4 below shows the percentage at or above the expected standard for reading.  
Since the first KS1 assessment of the more challenging new curriculum in the 
academic year 2015/16 the performance of Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary 
School has been above that of the Inner London and England averages.  The 
performance City of London residents attending either Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School or an Islington primary school were below the rates for Inner London 
and England in 2019 but were above for the previous 2 years (see Graph 4 below). 

Page 53



10

Graph 4: % at the expected standard or above in KS1 reading 2015/16 - 2018/19

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC or LBI

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases and City of London.  

Graph 5 below shows that Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School’s Key Stage 1 
results for writing were above national and Inner London averages for the last three 
years of assessment of the new Key Stage 1 curriculum.  In 2017/18 all City of 
London groups, residential and pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School, 
were above both comparators.  In 2018/19 the small number of City of London 
children resident in the City of London attending Prior Weston school were below 
both the national and Inner London averages.

Graph 5: % at the expected standard or above KS1 writing 2015/16 to 2018/19

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC or LBI

Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, Islington and City of London data.  

Graph 6 overleaf shows that Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School maths 
results have risen for the 3 years after poor results for the first year of the new 
curriculum.  It also shows the proportion of Corporation residents passing this 
assessment in 2018-19 was higher than the Inner London and England rates and 

Page 54



11

that those City of London residents attending Prior Weston were below these 
comparators.
Graph 6: KS1 Maths % of pupils at the expected standard or above 2015/16 - 
2018/19 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC or LBI
Inner London England

source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington & the City of London.  

Key Stage 2
All Year 6 pupils (rising 11 year olds) are assessed at the end of Key Stage 2 (KS2).  
In 2016, the new more challenging national curriculum was assessed by new tests 
and interim frameworks for teacher assessment. Reading and writing results are no 
longer reported as levels: each pupil receives their test results as a scaled score or 
teacher assessments based on the interim framework.  

Table 8 below shows the number of children in each group for at the end of KS2 from 
2015/16 to 2018/19.  The largest group is the roll at the Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School.

Table 8: Numbers of pupils per group in the Year 6 cohort 2015/16 to 2018/19 
KS2 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 28 26 29 28
CofL Residents at Sir John Cass’s
 Foundation Primary School 5 2 8 7

CofL Residents at Prior Weston 9 10 4 10
CofL Residents at another Islington school 1 1 1 2
CofL Residents Total 15 13 13 19
 Source: Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School and Islington’s People’s Services 
Note: The categories are not mutually exclusive and some pupils will appear in more than one group.

Graph 7 below shows 82% of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School 
were at the expected standard or above in reading, writing and mathematics 
combined in 2018-19, compared to 72% the previous year. The City of London’s 
results (Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School) were the highest for any L.A. in 
England for 2015/16 to 2018/19 apart from 2017/18 when it was in the top decile. 

Page 55



12

The figures for City of London Residents at Prior Weston and those attending Sir 
John Cass’s Foundation Primary School or an Islington school were at the Inner 
London average and above the rate for England in 2018/19.

Graph 7: Percentage of pupils expected standard and above in reading, writing 
and mathematics combined at Key Stage 2 from 2015/16 to 2018/19 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Graph 8 below shows that in 2018/19 89% of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School, 95% of the authority’s residents attending school in the City or 
Islington and 90% of the corporation’s residents attending Prior Weston school were 
at the expected standard or above in reading.  All groups were above the average for 
both Inner London and England.

Graph 8: Percentage of pupils at or above the expected standard in KS2 
reading from 2015/16 to 2018/19 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Page 56



13

Graph 9: Percentage of pupils at or above the expected standard in KS2 
Writing from 2015/16 to 2018/19 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases LB Islington and City of London. 

Graph 9 above shows that in 2018/19 86% of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School reached the expected level or above at Key Stage 2 in writing.  This 
figure is lower than the previous year but is still above the results for Inner London 
and England.  

Graph 10 below shows that 96% of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary 
School reached the expected level or above at Key Stage 2 in mathematics in 
2018/19. The performance of City of London residents attending Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School or an Islington school was 90% for 2018/19, putting both 
these groups above the rate for Inner London.

Graph 10: Percentage of pupils at or above the expected standard in KS2 
Maths from 2015/16 to 2018/19

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Page 57



14

5.5.1 Pupils working at greater depth at Key Stage 2

The new curriculum threshold for ‘working at greater depth’ (GDS) for subjects that 
are tested  (reading, maths and GPS) is 110 standardised points.

Graph 11: % of pupils at GDS for Reading, Writing & Maths combined at Key 
Stage 2 from 2015/16 to 2018/19 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Graph 11 shows that 21% of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School in 
2018 were at greater depth compared to Inner London (14%) and England (11%).

Table 9 below shows the three year averages for the percentage of pupil premium 
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils from 2016 - 2018 to 2017 - 2019 reaching the 
expected standard for all three core subjects.  The results of the corporation’s 
disadvantaged pupils are not only above the equivalent figures for pupil premium 
pupils nationally and in Inner London but also above those for non-disadvantaged 
pupils both in England and Inner London.
 
Table 9: % At or above the expected for reading, writing & mathematics 
combined,  rolling 3 year averages broken by Pupil Premium status

All Pupils Pupil Premium Non-Pupil Prem.3 Year Averages: % at Expected for 
Reading, Writing & Maths 2016-18 2017-19 2016-18 2017-19 2016-18 2017-19

Sir John Cass 91.2% 80.7% 89.5% 77.8% 93.3% 82.1%
Inner London 66.0% 69.7% 57.7% 62.7% 73.0% 76.7%
England 60.3% 63.7% 43.3% 50.0% 66.7% 70.3%

Source: City of London 

Graph 12 overleaf shows that in 2018/19 50% of pupils at Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School were at the higher grade of ‘greater depth’ for KS2 
reading in 2019. Some 70% of those City of London residents attending Prior Weston 
and 58% of City residents attending Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School or 
an Islington school reached this benchmark.  The rates for Inner London and 
England were 31% and 27% respectively.

Page 58



15

Graph 12 Percentage of pupils at GDS for KS2 Reading 2015/16 to 2018/19 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Graph 13 below shows that the proportion of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School working at greater depth in writing in 2018-19 was 39%, 14% 
percentage points above the rate for Inner London (24%).  City of London residents 
attending Prior Weston and those attending schools in the City or Islington performed 
even higher, 50% and 42% respectively.

Graph 13: Percentage of of pupils at GDS in KS2 Writing from 2015/16 to 
2018/19

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Graph 14 overleaf shows that the proportion of pupils at Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School working at greater depth in mathematics, at 54%, was substantially 
higher than the rates for Inner London and England. City residents at Prior Weston 
and Corporation residents attending a school in the City or in Islington were above 
the national and close to the Inner London average for this measure.

Page 59



16

Graph 14: Percentage of pupils at GDS in KS2 Maths from 2015/16 to 2018/19

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Sir John Cass CoL Residents at Prior Weston CofL Residents at SJC & LBI
Inner London England

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

5.5.2 Progress from Key Stage 1 to Key Stage 2

The DfE measure for progress is a ‘relative attainment’ model that compares the 
standardised score (or the numeric value linked to a grade in the case of writing) for 
each pupil against the average performance of pupils with very similar end of KS1 
results nationally. A score below zero means below average progress rather than 
negative progress.  The figures for England are not shown as they are always zero.  

Graph 15:  Progress made in KS2 for Reading 2015/16 to 2018/19

2016 2017 2018 2019

-3.00 

-2.00 

-1.00 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

Sir John Cass CofL Residents at Prior Weston

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Graph 15 above shows the DfE progress measure for reading. The figures for Sir 
John Cass’s Foundation Primary School and City of London residents attending 
school in the City or in Islington were positive for all four years.  Those residents on 
roll at Prior Weston school have sometimes had below average progress though this 
group is very small and so the results are likely to vary from year to year.  The 2019 
reading progress scores for all 3 groups were in the top 5% for all schools in 
England.

Page 60



17

Graph 16 below shows progress in writing. Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary 
School and residents of the corporation attending Islington schools above the 
national average for all four years and Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School’s 
progress is in the top quintile for writing progress in England in 2019. The progress 
made in writing by Corporation residents attending Prior Weston has been below the 
national average for the last two years.

Graph 16:  Progress made in KS2 for Writing 2015/16 to 2018/19

2016 2017 2018 2019

-3.00 

-2.00 

-1.00 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

Sir John Cass CofL Residents at Prior Weston

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London.

Graph 17:  Progress made in KS2 for Mathematics 2015/16 to 2018/19

2016 2017 2018 2019

-3.00 

-2.00 

-1.00 

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

Sir John Cass CofL Residents at Prior Weston
CofL Residents at SJC & LBI Inner London

Source: DfE Statistical First Releases, LB Islington and City of London 

Graph 17 above shows the progress made in maths by pupils at Sir John Cass’s 
Foundation Primary School means that, on average, pupils at this school scored 
about 4 standardised scale points more than pupils with similar Key Stage 1 results 
nationally in 2019 putting it in the top 5% of schools in England.  The progress of City 
of London residents attending Islington schools were above the national average for 
all four years and in 2019 was in the top quintile nationally.  The results of the small 
number of residents attending Prior Weston show a similar pattern to the progress 
made in reading and also writing.    

Page 61



18

5. Attendance

Graph 18 below compares the City of London’s (e.g. Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School ’s) rates of absence againt the rates for primary schools in Inner 
London and England.  The City of London’s rate increased in 2014/15 to a level that 
was higher than both Inner London and England before falling in 2015/16 and 
2016/17. Overall absence for 2017/18 was 3.2% which is the second lowest rate of 
absence out of all 152 English local authorities.  Please note that the figures for small 
groups will show more variance from one year to the next which is why Sir John 
Cass’s Foundation Primary School data fluctuates more than the comparators over 
time. The rate of absence  for Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School in 2018/19 
was 2.8%, lower than the 2017/18 figure shown on the graph.

Graph 18: Overall three term absence rates 2013/14 to 2017/18

2013/14
Overall absence:  

3 term data %

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

City of London (Sir John Cass) Inner London

England (primary state-funded schools only)

Source: DfE Performance Tables and Statistical First Releases.  Note: The DfE three term absence 
data for 2018/19 is not yet published. 

Table 10 below shows the rates of persistent absenteeism from 2015/16 to 2017/18 
figures prior to this time are not comparable6.  The rate of persistent absence in Sir 
John Cass’s Foundation Primary School are less than half the rates for both Inner 
London and England.  The 2017/18 rate of persistent absence for the City of London 
was the lowest recorded by any of the 152 local authorities in England.

Table 10: Persistent absence rates 2015/16 and 2017/18
10%+ Abs.% Persistent 

Absenteeism 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
City of London (Sir John 
Cass) 3.9% 2.8% 3.3%

Inner London 8.9% 8.6% 8.9%
England (primary state-
funded schools only) 8.2% 8.3% 8.7%

 Source: DfE Performance Tables and SFRs 2016 to 2018

6 In the past persistent absence was defined as a rate of absence greater than 15% of the whole year 
(as defined by the DfE).  From 2015-16 it was redefined as any rate of absence greater than 10%.

Page 62



19

6. Admissions

Islington Council processes school admission applications on behalf of the 
City of London.  The tables below relate to offers to City of London residents.  

1.7 Primary school admissions
Table 11 below shows the number and percentage of resident children who 
were offered a school place in The City of London, Islington or another 
borough.  In 2016 over half of the corporation’s residents were offered a place 
at Sir John Cass’s Foundation Primary School when the school opened a 
bulge class at Reception for that year.   The average proportion of city 
residents in reception for 2017 to 2019 was about a quarter. With the 
exception of 2016, roughly 55% of Corporation residents were offered an 
Islington school from 2015 to 2019. The proportion of reception aged children 
in the City offered a place in another borough rose from about 12% for 2015 & 
2016 to about 17.0% for 2018 & 2019.  The four pupils offered places in 
schools in boroughs other than Islington in 2019 were all offered places in 
Tower Hamlets schools.

Table 11: Offers of reception school places to City of London resident 
children in 2015 to 2019

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019Reception Place Offers
No. % No. % No. % No. % No. %

Sir John Cass’s Foundation 
Primary School 10 31.3 19 54.3 6 21.4 10 29.4 6 25.0

Islington Schools 18 56.3 12 34.3 16 57.1 18 52.9 14 58.3
Schools in other Boroughs 4 12.5 4 11.4 6 21.4 6 17.6 4 16.7
Total 32 100.0 35 100.0 28 100.0 34 100.0 24 100.0

Source: Islington Admissions Section, based on the position on offer day.
Note: These are offers to City of London residents only.  Only offered pupils are included.  

1.8 Secondary school admissions
Table 12 overleaf shows the breakdown of offers to City children by the 
schools’ maintaining local authority from 2015 to 2019.  From 2015 to 2017 
between 43% and 65% of 11 year olds living in the corporation were offered 
places in Islington schools.  Although this figure fell to about a quarter in 2018, 
in 2019 it rose to 48%.  On average, over the five years, about 1 in 6 were 
offered places in a Tower Hamlets secondary school although the proportion 
does seem to be falling (29% in 2015, 9% in 2019), almost 1 in 7 were offered 
a place in a Hackney school and slightly more than 1 in 14 offered places in 
secondary schools in Southwark.  Offers in 2019 included places in Essex 
local authority schools and, for the first time over the last 5 years, a Camden 
school.  

Page 63



20

Table 12: Offers of secondary school places to City of London resident 
children 2015 to 2019

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019Secondary Transfer 
Offers

No. % No. % No. % No. % No. %

Islington Schools 9 42.9 13 59.1 11 64.7 5 26.3 11 47.8
Greenwich 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 10.5 0 0.0
Hackney 3 14.3 3 13.6 1 5.9 3 15.8 4 17.4
Hammersmith 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 5.3 0 0.0
Kensington & Chelsea 1 4.8 1 4.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Lewisham 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Southwark 1 4.8 0 0.0 3 17.6 3 15.8 0 0.0
Tower Hamlets 6 28.6 4 18.2 2 11.8 2 10.5 2 8.7
Westminster 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 5.3 3 13.0
Essex 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 10.5 2 8.7
Lambeth 1 4.8 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Barnet 0 0.0 1 4.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0
Camden 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 4.3
Total 21 100.0 22 100.0 17 100.0 19 100.0 23 100.0

Source: Islington Admissions Section, based on the position on offer day.
Note: These are offers to City residents only.  Only pupils offered a place are included.  

Page 64



21

6.1.1 Suggested Questions for Governors

How well are children in our school doing compared to City of London children in 
other schools and in relation to Inner London and nationally? 

What steps has the school taken to improve outcomes and what has the impact 
been?

How might the school raise performance in Key Stage 1 reading and mathematics?  
Are any particular groups of pupils underperforming in these subjects?

Are pupils making expected progress between Year 2 and Year 6 (during KS2)?  

How do we know if every child is reaching their full potential? How can we ensure 
higher ability pupils are supported to work at greater depth? 

Which pupil groups are performing less well?  What action has been taken to address 
their underperformance?

How is the Pupil Premium being used to ‘close the gap’ between different groups 
(gender, ethnicity, SEN, FSM)? 

What progress is being made on the key areas for development identified at the last 
inspection and what has the impact been? 

How well has the school prepared for the changes to the Ofsted Inspection 
Framework that took place in September 2019?

What action is being taken to sustain our school’s judgement of outstanding?

How does the absence data and persistent absence data compare with the national 
equivalents?  How does the equivalent data for just pupil premium pupils compare 
against the national data for pupil premium and non-pupil premium data?

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



Committee: Dated: 

Community and Children’s Services 07/02/2020

Subject:
Stronger Communities and Small Grants Programme

Public

Report of:
Andrew Carter, Director of Community and Children’s 
Services 

Report author:
Jack Joslin, Head of Central Grants Programme, 
Central Grants Unit

For Decision

Summary

The integration of the Small Grants Scheme into the Stronger Communities 
Programme took place in February 2018. The Central Grants Unit (CGU) devised a 
new and accessible online application form for the Small Grants Scheme with a 
lighter-touch, but still robust assessment process. The CGU is seeking approval to 
offer the Small Grants Scheme on a rolling basis from 1 April 2020. The Stronger 
Communities main grants programme will continue to maintain its two deadlines 
each year for larger applications. 

Recommendations

Members are asked to:

 approve the new Small Grants process
 note the revision to the criteria for the Stronger Communities Programme to 

outline change for the Small Grants Programme
 note the Small Grants Application form.

Main Report

Background

1. The Stronger Communities theme is a strand of the City of London 
Corporation’s (CoLC’s) Central Grants Programme (CGP) that awards grants 
to projects or services that are being delivered for the benefit of communities 
or individual beneficiaries within the City of London and its housing estates 
across London. 

2. Members of this Committee agreed in May 2016 that the award of grants will 
be determined by Officers of Community and Children’s Services in 

Page 67

Agenda Item 12



consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Grand 
Committee.

3. The grant assessment process for this and other themes in the programme is 
overseen by the CGU. It draws on the unit’s expertise in the field of grant-
making and demonstrates good practice.

4. Grant applications are subject to a series of due diligence checks by the CGU 
to ensure compliance with the established eligibility criteria. Applications will 
pass a financial assessment by the Head of Charity and Social Investment 
Finance (Chamberlain’s Department). All eligible applications are then 
considered by a panel of expert officers.

 

Small Grants Programme

5. In February 2018, the Community and Children’s Services Committee agreed 
to add Small Grants to the Stronger Communities Programme, as there was 
no longer resource in the Department to deliver a Small Grants Scheme of its 
own. A discreet budget was made available to ensure that Small Grant 
applications would be available under the main programme.

6. In November 2019, Members of this Committee agreed that the CGU should 
explore the possibility of offering the Small Grants Scheme on a rolling basis. 
Members approved delegated authority to the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services on all Small Grant applications of £3,000 or less.

7. A proportion of the Stronger Communities funding was agreed to be allocated 
to smaller projects. 

8. The CGU developed a new online application form for small grants of £3,000 
or less, and agreed a lighter-touch financial assessment with the 
Chamberlain’s Department. This application is the same as the previous form 
used by the Department, but in online format. Due diligence checks are in line 
with grant-making best practice and to protect against fraud.

9. It is recommended that the Small Grants Programme be offered on a rolling 
basis from 1 April 2020. 

10. The Small Grants Programme will be available to applicants throughout the 
year to ensure that community activity can be supported with a shorter 
planning period. Applicants will be able to:

a) apply online throughout the year
b) apply for a grant of up to £3,000 in line with the Stronger Communities 

eligibility criteria
c) access advice and support on applications from the CGU throughout the 

year

Page 68



d) receive support with applications provided on request from the Community 
Engagement team

e) engage in a proportionate but robust assessment process 
f) receive a decision within eight weeks of applying for a grant.

11. To ensure that decisions on the rolling Small Grants process can be made 
punctually and within the outlined timeframe, it has been approved that grant 
decisions be delegated to the Director of Community and Children’s Services.

12. Members are requested to note the amendments to the Stronger 
Communities eligibility criteria to incorporate the new scheme at Appendix 1.

13. Members are requested to note the Small Grants application form at Appendix 
2. This is an online version of the application form used under the previous 
departmental scheme. Accessible versions of the application form will be 
available on request.

14. Updates on the scheme will be provided on a bi-annual basis in line with the 
other Stronger Communities reporting.

Corporate & Strategic Implications

15. The CGP Stronger Communities funding strand was created to promote a fair 
system of grant-giving by the CoLC. 

16. The Small Grants Programme will become a rolling programme, making it 
more accessible to the City of London communities and those who live in its 
housing estates across London.

Conclusion

17. The Small Grants Programme will be established on a rolling basis to ensure 
consistent community access. A revised application form will be looked at in 
line with best practice, and a package of support will be explored for small 
organisations that may have issues accessing funding.

Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Stronger Communities: criteria for funding (changes highlighted)
 Appendix 2 – Small Grants Application Form

Jack Joslin
Head of Central Grants Programme – Central Grants Unit

T: 020 7332 3712
E: jack.joslin@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 69

mailto:jack.joslin@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70



    

Stronger Communities
1. Types of projects and activity to be supported

Grants issued through the ‘Stronger Communities’ theme will be awarded to projects or 
services that are being delivered for the benefit of communities or beneficiaries within the City 
of London and its Housing Estates across London.

The Stronger Communities funding theme has been separated into three sub themes:

• Developing stronger neighbourhoods and communities

This sub theme has been developed to actively support local community based projects within 
the City of London and its Housing estates across London. The projects you put forward 
should enable more people to become involved in their communities and encourage a broader 
understanding of the diverse needs of these communities.  Projects may either promote a 
higher take up of existing projects or services or encourage new and innovative ones.

• Promoting community health and wellbeing

The activities supported through this sub theme should contribute to the health and wellbeing 
of communities and should be able to demonstrate positive outcomes that address the Health 
and Wellbeing priorities set out in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  (Details of which 
can be found on the City of London Corporation (CoLC) website).

2. Who can apply for a City of London Corporation Grant?

The CoLC Central Grants Programme is open to organisations that fall into one of the following 
categories:

 Registered charity
 Registered Community Interest Company
 Registered Charitable Incorporated Organisation
 Charitable company (incorporated as a not-for-profit)
 Exempt or excepted charity
 Registered charitable industrial and provident society or charitable Cooperative 

(Bencom)
 Constituted voluntary organisation

Proposals that support individuals can be accepted under this theme. However, if you are an 
individual wanting to make an application, we ask that you apply for funding through a City-
based constituted group or organisation, residents association or a charity who will be able to 
support and countersign your application and thus have “ownership” of the project.

Should you be a resident on one of the CoLC Housing Estates and would like to consider 
establishing a Residents Association (should there not be one already operating in your area), 
you should contact your local Estates Manager who will be able to provide you all the 
necessary advice and guidance on how to proceed.  Their contact details can be found on the 
CoLC website.

Page 71

http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/housing/housing-estates/Pages/default.aspx


    

Your local Council for Voluntary Service would be able to provide you advice and guidance in 
constituting any other type of organisation.

3. Opening Dates

Main Grants

Two grant rounds will take place each year.  Grant dates will be advertised on the webpage. 
Deadlines are usually in November and April each year. Decisions will be made within 12 
weeks of the application deadline.

Small Grants

A small grants scheme for grants of £3,000 or less will now run throughout the year on a rolling 
basis with no deadlines.  

4. What is the minimum and maximum Grant that can be applied for?

The minimum grant award permitted will be £500, and the maximum £10,000 for projects that 
take place over a 12-month period. Grants of up to £20,000 will be considered in exceptional 
circumstances if the project takes place over a 2-year period. Exceptional grants will be those 
that demonstrate how greater funding over a longer period will make a demonstrable 
difference to the community they work with.

A small grant scheme is also available for grants of £3,000 or less.  

How do you apply for a grant?

To apply for a CoLC grant you will need to complete either the small grant of standard online 
application form by the corresponding deadline and submit this electronically with your 
supporting documents to the CoLC Central Grants Unit. 

You should send your application to us well before the stated deadline to allow us to process 
your application in time. We will only consider one application from your organisation at any 
one time.

All application forms should be completed through the online CoLC grants web portal.  
Application forms in large print, Braille or audio tape would be offered to applicants by special 
request.

5. How are applications assessed?

Once the CoLC has received your online application and all supporting documents it will be 
passed to one of the City Corporation’s Grant Officers for assessment. As part of this process 
a Grants Officer may contact you for more information. 

We will acknowledge receipt of your application within 10 working days of it being received. If 
your application is not complete it will be returned to you and you will have a further 10 working 
days to send us the missing information.

Page 72



    
A Funding Officer may also arrange to visit or call your organisation as part of the assessment 
process. Once a full assessment has been completed your request will be referred to an 
appropriate Committee.

Main Grants

The timescale to process your application will vary; however, we will endeavour to ensure your 
application is assessed within 12 weeks of the closing date.  You should take account of this 
when planning your project. 

Small Grants

Small Grants will be assessed within 8 weeks of the application being submitted.  

6. How do we monitor and evaluate grant recipients once an award has been 
made?

If we fund your project we will need you to complete an end of grant monitoring report to 
confirm how the grant has been spent and what you achieved. Please make sure that you 
keep receipts for all the items or services you buy with the grant and that you keep them 
somewhere safe as we may ask you to provide them. 

We may also visit you to check how the grant has been spent. 

Please keep us up to date if your project or any of your contact details change at any stage 
during the period of your grant.

7. If your grant application is successful

If your application is successful, an initial offer letter detailing the level of grant awarded will 
be issued.  This may contain special conditions relating to the grant award or pre-agreement 
grant conditions.

Grant acceptance terms and conditions will be subsequently issued which should be signed 
and returned within 20 working days.

Once all documentation has been received and approved you would be asked to formally 
request payment of your grant award.

Note: You cannot start your project until we have received, checked and approved all 
information that we have requested.

8. If your grant application is unsuccessful

Due to the limited budget available and the number of applications for funding we receive, the 
CoLC unfortunately cannot provide funding to every applicant that applies for a grant. Grants 
are therefore issued on a discretionary basis, there is no appeal process and the decision of 
the CoLC is final.

Page 73



    
9. Support with your application

We urge all applicants that are unsure about whether to submit an application to read all 
available eligibility criteria on our website and attend one of our Grant Officer led workshops; 
dates for which will be publicised on our website throughout the year.

If you have an enquiry that is not covered within the online guidance, please contact the City 
of London Central Grants Unit directly, who will be able provide answers to general queries 
regarding the application process.

10. Can you reapply for funding?

You may reapply for funding to deliver a continuation of the same project however; 
organisations cannot hold more than one of our grants at any one time 

If you are a current grant holder, you will need to have satisfactorily met all our grant monitoring 
requirements before applying again.  

11. What do we not fund?

Some things we are unable to pay for are shown below. 

 activities that have already taken place or start before we confirm our grant
 any costs you incur when putting together your application
 fundraising activities for your organisation or others
 items that are purchased on behalf of another organisation
 loans or interest payments
 projects that actively promote religious or political activities 
 purchase of alcohol

12. Further information

If you have questions about how to apply or about the status of an application, you can contact 
us on 020 7332 3712, email us at grants@cityoflondon.gov.uk, or visit our website 
www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/centralgrantsprogramme to find out more.

Page 74

mailto:grants@cityoflondon.gov.uk
http://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/


Appendix 2 – Small Grants Application Form

Applicant Details

Printer Friendly Version    |   E-mail Draft    

  Required before final submission

Name of organisation / group:    

 This is a required field.  

  
 

 Contact Details:

 

  

   

 First Name:

  

Last Name:

  

Position within / affiliation to organisation / group:  

  
 

 Telephone number:

  

Page 75

https://www.grantrequest.co.uk/PrinterFriendly.aspx?sid=133&aid=47410
javascript:submit_igam_form('RP',%20'EMAIL')


E-mail address:

  

Address for Correspondence:    

 This is a required field.  

 

 

 

 City:

This is a required field.

  

Postal Code:   

This is a required field.

  

What service does your organisation / group provide?  

 This is a required field.  

 
Word count 0 of 150

 

 

What are the aims and objectives of your organisation / group?  

 This is a required field.  

 
Word count 0 of 150

 

 

When did your organisation / group begin?  

Page 76



 This is a required field.  

  
 

 If your organisation is a Registered Charity, please give the Charity Number:  

  
 

What geographical area in the City will the funding assist?  

 This is a required field.  

  
 

Who does your organisation benefit?  

 e.g. children, young people,adults, older people.  

 This is a required field.  

 Word count 0 of 100

 

 

Funding

 Has your organisation / group received funding in the past from the City of London 
Corporation? If so, when and how much?  

  
 

 Has your organisation / group received any other external funding? If so, when and how 
much?  

  
 

  

   

 Has your organisation/group received any other income in the past three years?

 

 Please include any membership fees collected, small grants or any other funding.  

Page 77



   

  2015/16:

(£)

  

 2016/17:

(£)

  

 2017/18:

(£)

  

Please provide a short description of the proposed project or activity for which the funds 
are requested (20 words maximum).  

 This is a required field.  

 Word count 0 of 20

 

 

Amount of funding you are applying for from the City of London (Maximum £3,000)    

 This is a required field.  

  
 

Please provide a detailed breakdown of how the funding will be spent.  

 (please provide a formal quote for any capital expenditure. i.e. equipment purchase)  

 This is a required field.  

 
Word count 0 of 200

 

 

Page 78



Please provide further details as to why you are applying for a grant and how you satisfy 
the specific funding criteria (not more than 200 words).  

 This is a required field.  

 
Word count 0 of 200

 

 

Please outline a timescale for your project or activity including expected outcomes.    

 This is a required field.  

 
Word count 0 of 150

 

 

General Information

Explain why the project will make a difference to your area and make us understand 
why the project is important.  

 This is a required field.  

 
Word count 0 of 200

 

 

What would be the consequence if the City of London could only provide part of the 
funding applied for?  

 This is a required field.  

 
 

 

Page 79



 Is there any other information relevant to support your application?  

 (Please refer to the listed criteria which are relevant to your proposed project if you have 
not already addressed these in your application)

 

 Word count 0 of 100

 

 

How many members does your organisation have?  

 This is a required field.  

  
 

 How many people will benefit from the funding?

Please give an approximate figure if necessary.

This is a required field.

  

 Will this be:

(please select)

 

 

 Are there any further comments that you wish to add?  

 
Word count 0 of 150

 

 

Declaration

 To the best of my knowledge, all of the information that I have provided in this 
application is correct  

Page 80



   

 Please tick:   

This is a required field.

  

Name:

This is a required field.

  

Role Within Organisation:

This is a required field.

  

Date:

This is a required field.

 
 

 

  

   

 How Your Personal Information Will Be Used:

 

 

The City of London Corporation (CoLC) uses all reasonable endeavours to comply with 
the Data Protection Act 2018, which integrates the General Data Protection 
Regulations. Our privacy and data protection statement can be found here: 
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-our-website/Pages/privacy-notice.aspx The 
CoLC obtains and uses information, including personal data, as part of the process of 
assessing grant applications and monitoring the use of grants. The information, 
including personal data, which you provide on grant application form, or in supporting 
documentation, may be made public as part of the assessment of applications. 
Information, including personal data, may be assessed and monitored by external 
evaluators contracted to the CoLC. It will not be used for any additional purposes or 
disclosed to any third parties without your permission, except where this is otherwise 
required by the law.

 

   

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



1

Committees:
Culture, Heritage and Libraries – For Information
Community and Children’s Services – For Information

Dated:
20/01/2020
07/02/2020

Subject:
Barbican and Community Libraries - Services for Children 
and Families 

Public

Report of: Andrew Carter, Director of Community and 
Children’s Services

Report author: Sarah Townsend, Children’s Services 
Librarian

For Information

Summary

This report updates members on the range of innovative activities and services for 
children and families provided by Barbican and Community Libraries. These 
initiatives positively impact on education and literacy, socialisation/social isolation, 
health and wellbeing/child development and fun and play. Many of these services 
and activities are the product of successful partnership working and they also 
provide a variety of opportunities for the City’s communities to engage in 
volunteering.

City parents consistently rate the services provided by the libraries very highly and 
as a result of this, and in partnership with the City’s Family and Young People’s 
team, Barbican and Community Libraries continues to deliver a range of Children’s 
Centre services for the City. 

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Note the report.

Main Report

Background

1. Libraries Connected is a charity that was previously known as the Society of 
Chief Librarians (SCL). It comprises the head of service of every library authority 
in England, Wales and Northern Ireland. Libraries Connected has endorsed ‘The 
Children’s Promise’, which sets out the experience that children and young 
people should have through public library services:
 Every child and young person visiting a public library is inspired by an exciting 

accessible environment which makes reading for pleasure irresistible.
 They have the opportunity to engage with imaginative digital opportunities 

through public libraries, building their skills, knowledge and creativity.

Page 83

Agenda Item 13



2

 They will find a range of inclusive and diverse fiction and non-fiction books 
and other information resources to support growing confidence in literacy and 
formal and informal learning.

 They are able to take part in a wide range of literacy and cultural experiences, 
including reading and book-based activities.

 They are actively involved in decisions about service developments and are 
offered opportunities to volunteer.

 They are supported through library services and activities to improve their 
health and wellbeing.

2. The full Children’s Promise is attached at Appendix 1. 

Current Position

3. The Barbican Children’s Library is a dedicated space within the Barbican Library 
and there are children’s sections in the two smaller libraries. Services to children 
from all three libraries are co-ordinated by the Children’s Services Librarian who 
is professionally qualified. The Mission Statement of Barbican and Community 
Libraries is:

 To support and promote learning, reading and literacy, facilitate participation 
in community and cultural life and meet the needs of all our customers – 
current and potential.

4. In addition to comprehensive fiction and non-fiction stock for children of all ages 
and all abilities, our libraries offer a range of innovative and successful services 
to support children and their families to enjoy, achieve and live healthy lives.
We currently have 2,481 registered members who are children.

5. Barbican and Community Libraries delivers a range of Children’s Centre services 
from all our libraries, including Rhyme Time, Messy Play and Stay and Play.

6. There are only two members of dedicated children’s library staff, both based at 
Barbican Library. These are the Children’s Services Librarian and the Principle 
Library Assistant. The other two libraries have generalist staff who curate a 
diverse programme of children’s activities and events under the supervision of 
the Children’s Services Librarian. 

7. In 2018, at the Barbican Library, a comprehensive training programme was put in 
place to upskill all the library assistants who work in the Children’s Library. This 
programme gives staff the skills and confidence they need to run events such as 
Rhyme Time. The benefits are that members of staff increase their skills base 
and it provides flexibility as the volume of work that takes place in the children’s 
library is not sustainable for two people alone. 

8. One of our greatest achievements was to train a Senior Library Assistant, who 
has worked at Barbican Library for 40 years but never in the children’s library. He 
now takes part in Rhyme Time sessions and reads to nursery children, and they 
thoroughly enjoy his performance. He enjoys using his new skills, and there has 

Page 84



3

been a very positive impact on those staff who were initially resistant and 
apprehensive about leading activities.   

9. Children’s Library activity is regularly evaluated via questionnaires to measure 
success against our core aims. 

In 2018–19, 
 89% of parents and carers agreed that our services and activities gave 

their children the opportunity to make friends 
 93% agreed that our services and activities gave them (the adults) the 

opportunity to make friends 
 96% agreed that the library’s services and activities have a positive impact 

on their family’s health and wellbeing 
 96% agreed that the library’s services and activities help with their child’s 

development (co-ordination and motor skills, speech and language).

10.Socialisation/tackling social isolation

All three libraries provide activities for under-5s and their parent/carers, including the 
Children’s Centre services. The aim of our programme is to have fun while tackling 
social isolation. Many of our customers live far away from their families and support 
networks, some of which are abroad. These activities provide parents/carers with the 
opportunity to create new support networks, make new friends and for their children 
to have fun and socialise with children of differing ages and backgrounds. Our 
regular activities for under-5s are:

 Rhyme Time: Barbican Children’s Library and Artizan Street Library offer four 
Rhyme Time sessions per week for children aged under-3, and their 
families/carers. Rhyme Times are participative 30-minute sessions of songs 
and stories. Children’s Library staff have received some basic training in 
Makaton, a language programme designed to provide a means of 
communication to individuals who cannot communicate efficiently by 
speaking. One of the weekly Barbican Children’s Library sessions now 
includes Makaton signing.  

Saturday Rhyme Time was originally devised as a ‘Dads’ Rhyme Time’ and 
specifically aimed at fathers living apart from their children. Following requests 
from working mothers, this popular session is now aimed at all parents who 
work during the week. Barbican Children’s Library has a reciprocal 
arrangement with Islington Library Service in which our staff guest at their 
Rhyme Times and their staff come to the Barbican Rhyme Time; this has 
proved useful in disseminating information about our services to a wider 
audience, and has resulted in new customers joining the library, increasing 
numbers at our events. The Barbican Children’s Library has an informal Stay 
and Play after each Rhyme Time session, which usually lasts 45 minutes and 
during which parents and carers can socialise while their children play 
together with library toys.

 Story Time: Barbican Children’s Library holds a weekly 30-minute story time 
for children aged 3 and upwards.

Page 85



4

 Stay and Play: Shoe Lane Library holds a weekly Stay and Play with Rhyme 
Time included. This is a two-hour session and their Story Time has been 
adapted to be a part of this session. Age-appropriate toys are provided, and a 
different craft activity is provided each week. Artizan Street library also holds a 
Stay and Play, (which follows on from their Rhyme Time), in which they use 
musical instruments and multi-sensory props.  

 Baby Bounce: These weekly sessions are similar to Rhyme Time but are 
specifically for babies under 18 months. They are held at Shoe Lane and 
Artizan Street libraries.

 Messy Play: Monthly one-hour Messy Play sessions are provided at Shoe 
Lane and Artizan Street Libraries and are extremely popular. These sessions 
give young children the opportunity to play, be creative and get messy in the 
library. Activities usually include sand play, painting, and a range of sensory 
experiences (for example, large trays of cornflakes, jelly, cold porridge) for 
children to explore.

11.Education and Literacy

 Read to Succeed: Barbican Children’s Library and Artizan Street Library offer 
our own City of London scheme, which supports primary school children to 
become more fluent in reading. Each child is partnered with a volunteer and 
they read together for half an hour a week. Volunteers are DBS checked and 
come from all sections of the community, including City residents and City 
workers. We currently have 21 children and 12 volunteers taking part in the 
scheme. In total, we have worked with 101 children and 51 volunteers since 
the scheme started in 2012. Parents regularly credit the scheme with 
changing reluctant readers into keen readers.

 Code Club: We run weekly, term-time code clubs at Barbican Children’s 
Library and Artizan Street Library and Community Centre. Each cohort 
participates in the club for one academic year. This activity is run in 
partnership with the national Code Club organisation 
https://www.codeclub.org.uk/. Currently, we have six volunteers from Lloyds 
Banking Group who run both clubs for us. Initially, children are taught to code 
using the programming language, Scratch, and they progress onto Python 
and HTML throughout the year. Since September 2018, 35 children have 
taken part in the club. Graduates of the club have reported being ahead of 
classmates when coding lessons start at secondary school.  

 Ever year our lending libraries take part in the national Summer Reading 
Challenge (SRC), which is run in partnership with Arts Council England and 
The Reading Agency. Children aged 4 to 11 are encouraged to read any six 
books of their choice borrowed from their library during the summer holidays.  
Children receive special rewards for each book finished. When they have 
completed the SRC, they are invited to a ceremony at the Great Hall where 
they receive a medal and certificate from a published author. This year, 187 

Page 86

https://www.codeclub.org.uk/


5

children completed the SRC and received their certificate and medals from 
the performance poet and author, Neal Zetter. 

 Every month, the Barbican Children’s Library provides five one-hour book 
groups for children aged 7–9, 10–11 and 12–13 years. A home-schooled book 
group meets once a month in the Barbican Children’s Library and another 
meets at Shoe Lane Library.

 A STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering, Art and Maths) club operates 
from Barbican Children’s Library during the summer holidays. It is run by a 
STEM Ambassador who is also a Barbican resident. This year, children 
enjoyed participating in a range of different experiments linked to the SRC, 
and learned about concepts such as thrust, gravity and robotics. Working with 
the STEM Learning organisation, we borrowed Lego Mindstorm kits which 
were used to build space buggies. There are children who come back every 
year to take part in the STEAM club.

 Project loans: Barbican Children’s Library currently provides long-term book 
loans, based on National Curriculum subjects, to 24 teachers from 12 local 
schools and nurseries to support their classes.

 Barbican Children’s Library has an annual programme of library visits from 
local schools and nurseries. Visits are currently received from 12 primary 
school classes and nine under-5s groups.

 In the past 12 months we have hosted four Able Writers Days at the Barbican 
Children’s Library in partnership with Authors Abroad. These workshops are 
facilitated by Neal Zetter. The aim of the workshops is to develop young 
writers’ self-expression, creativity and literacy skills through writing and 
performing poetry in a fun and supportive environment. These workshops 
attract classes from local schools and schools across London. 

 The Children’s Services Librarian is working with the Quality Improvement 
Consultant working with the Early Years Team on the City of London Talks 
and Listens Enthusiastically (COLTALE) project.
COLTALE is a two-year Communication and Language project that focuses 
on three main themes, all of which have a considerable impact on child 
development:
1. Environment. Is it communication-friendly?
2. Practitioners. How well do they understand child development in this area?
3. Parents. Do they know how to support their children? 

The project is expected to provide impact in the following areas:
 Children with any form of language delay are identified and supported 

early.
 Narrowing of the attainment gap.
 Parents better understand how to support their young children.
 Early years practitioners have increased confidence in how to support 

young children.

Page 87



6

 Environments for children are communication-friendly and encourage the 
use of language.

The mascot of the COLTALE project is a blue dragon. Three toy dragons 
have been delivered to our libraries to inspire children to start creating stories 
about them. These stories will be made into a book with illustrations provided 
by older child customers.

 All of the libraries support and promote The Dolly Parton Imagination Library. 
Part of the City’s supporting early literacy offer, this project provides free 
monthly books to City families with children aged under 5 years.

12.Health and Wellbeing/Child Development

Our libraries regularly provide events and services to support the health and 
wellbeing of children and families. These include:

 Workshops run in partnership with HENRY (Health, Exercise, Nutrition for the 
Really Young). The Best Start with HENRY service supports families in the 
City with children aged 0–5 years with family programmes and a wide range 
of workshops – from Fussy Eaters to Let’s Get Active. Staff from HENRY 
have run workshops at all three libraries.

 Dental health talks take place in Barbican and Shoe Lane libraries twice a 
year, in partnership with a City dental practice.

 Eye clinic visits from City Sight take place twice a year at the Barbican 
Library.

 Staff from the Family and Young People’s Information Service attend library 
Stay and play/Rhyme Time sessions to offer parents support and advice. This 
is an important part of their early intervention and prevention work.

 Treasure Basket – all of our libraries have a collection of sensory items that 
help babies learn and discover.

 Comprehensive book stock in all libraries, covering all aspects of child 
development and parenting skills.

 Signposting to other services, internal and external, by staff who are trained in 
answering enquiries.

 All library staff are trained in safeguarding and are regularly updated on how 
to report any concerns. The Children’s Services Librarian is the safeguarding 
lead for Barbican and Community Libraries and is responsible for ensuring 
that library staff are supported in reporting concerns and updating their 
knowledge. She is also responsible for updating the section’s safeguarding 
policy.

Page 88



7

13.Fun and Play

Throughout the year, our libraries provide multiple opportunities for children of all 
ages to have fun and play via a programme of staff-led craft activities, professional 
storytellers and children’s entertainers. 

Activities in addition to those mentioned elsewhere include: 

 A monthly Secret Film Club at Barbican Children’s Library

 An annual major summer event where staff from all our libraries come 
together to provide the Summer Reading Challenge Fun Day, held in the 
Barbican Conservatory. In 2019, 205 children accompanied by 192 adults 
enjoyed crafts, face-painting, a treasure hunt and storytelling. This event is 
run in partnership with many City organisations and this year included Tower 
Bridge, Barbican Centre, Salter’s Company, the Museum of London and 
Culture Mile.

 Monster Club at Barbican Children’s Library – a weekly, hour-long social club 
with a variable format including board games, puzzles and art and craft 
activities for children aged 5–14 years. 

 Kid’s Club at Barbican Children’s Library – a monthly club run by children for 
children. Staff act purely as facilitators.  Activities have included badge 
making and storytelling.

 Philosophy Club at Barbican Children’s Library – a monthly club run by staff 
where children are introduced to philosophical ideas such as identity, and 
happiness. They discuss these concepts at a level suitable for children, 
encouraging discussion and critical thinking.

 Saturday Art club – a weekly club that encourages children to go beyond 
simply colouring in, for example, offering a still life tableau to draw.

 In addition to these regular activities, all three libraries regularly host events 
provided by external entertainers. In the past three years these have included 
magicians, animal encounters, storytellers and authors. In February 2019, 
students from Guildhall School of Music and Drama performed ‘What the 
Storm Brought’, a play with puppets, at Barbican Children’s Library and Shoe 
Lane Library. The students wrote the play and the music, designed all of the 
sets and made the puppets and props. The play formed part of their 
coursework, and their performances were assessed by their tutor. It was of 
great benefit to the students to be able to perform their exam piece to their 
target audience of children, and the libraries were very pleased to host an 
original piece of work created by talented students. More than 80 children and 
their parents watched the play, offering them the opportunity to be exposed to, 
and take part in, contemporary theatre.

Page 89



8

14.Volunteers

Our libraries offer many opportunities for people of all ages to volunteer and 
contribute to the local community. Some examples of our volunteering opportunities 
for young people of 14 years and older include:

 SRC volunteers help staff to run the challenge in Barbican and Artizan Street 
Libraries. Since 2017, 33 volunteers have been recruited and trained and they 
are vital in administering the Challenge. Many of our volunteers are City 
residents. Three of these volunteers are young people who have volunteered 
every year since 2017.

 HeadStart – https://www.headstart-thechallenge.org/ – HeadStart aims to 
inspire a new generation of volunteers and provide a significant benefit to 
society by connecting young people to local volunteering opportunities. 
HeadStart also provides a guaranteed job interview to those who give 16+ 
hours of their time. In the past three years, Barbican and Community Libraries 
has supported more than 20 young people via this programme.

 Duke of Edinburgh (DoE) awards volunteers gain valuable work experience 
by regularly working in our libraries. Currently 11 DoE volunteers are working 
at Barbican Library in both the adult and children’s libraries, each volunteering 
for one hour per week.

 All three lending libraries provide work experience opportunities for young 
people. Pupils from City-based schools and City academies are prioritised for 
these sought-after opportunities.

Proposals

15.Our libraries will continue to work closely with colleagues in the Family and 
Young People’s Information Service, along with other internal and external 
partners, explore new opportunities and seek out new partnerships to enhance 
the current offer to children and their families.

16.Staff from Barbican and Community Libraries are currently scoping the creation 
of a Makerspace at Artizan Street Library and Community Centre. A Makerspace 
is a collaborative workspace for making, learning, exploring and sharing that uses 
a variety of tools – high tech to no tech. These spaces are typically open to 
children, adults, and entrepreneurs and provide a variety of equipment including 
3D printers. This space would be available for use by the local community with 
activities run for children and adults, as well as by the local business community.

17.The Children’s Services Librarian is currently discussing the possibility of 
providing British Sign Language (BSL) Rhyme Times with BSL-trained Islington 
Libraries colleagues. The Children’s Services Librarian is trained in basic 
Makaton, a language programme designed to provide a means of communication 
to individuals who cannot communicate efficiently by speaking. More Barbican 
and Community Libraries staff will attend future courses with the aim of extending 
the Makaton Rhyme Time to all three libraries.

Page 90

https://www.headstart-thechallenge.org/


9

Corporate & Strategic Implications

18.Our work with Children and their families supports the City of London 
Corporation’s strategic aims:
 People enjoy good health and wellbeing
 People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their full 

potential.
 Communities are cohesive and have the facilities they need. 

Implications

19.The work that is being carried out in our libraries makes good use of spaces, 
staff, volunteers, partnerships, commissioning and grant funding opportunities 
and is therefore cost-effective. Appropriate licences are in place, there is a strictly 
followed Volunteer Policy, risk assessments are in place, and volunteers are DBS 
checked, so projects are also low risk.

Conclusion

20.Barbican Library, Shoe Lane Library and Artizan Street Library and Community 
Centre provide a hugely varied range of services and activities for children and 
their families, going far beyond the basic library functions. These services and 
activities enhance lives and create opportunities that are innovative and cost-
effective and offer people from all our communities a range of volunteering 
opportunities. 

Appendices

 Appendix 1 – Association of Senior Children’s and Education Librarians 
(ASCEL) Children’s Promise

 Appendix 2 – Regular events programme
 Appendix 3 – Case Study

Background Papers

 Previous reports to Education Board, Community and Children’s Services 
Committee and Culture, Heritage and Libraries Committee January/February 
2017

Sarah Townsend
Children’s Services Librarian 

T: 020 7332 1985
E: sarah.townsend@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Appendix 1

 ASCEL Children’s Promise May 2016 1

Children and Young People’s Promise in Public Libraries 

This Children’s Promise sets out the experience children and young people should have 
through public library services

Vision:  

 Every child and young person visiting a public library is inspired by an exciting 
accessible environment which makes reading for pleasure irresistible. 

 They have the opportunity to engage with imaginative digital opportunities through 
public libraries, building their skills, knowledge and creativity. 

 They will find a range of inclusive and diverse fiction and non-fiction books and other 
information resources to support growing confidence in literacy and formal and 
informal learning. 

 They are able to take part in a wide range of literacy and cultural experiences 
including reading and book-based activities. 

 They are actively involved in decisions about service developments and are offered 
opportunities to volunteer. 

 They are supported through library services and activities to improve their health and 
wellbeing

Children’s Library Journeys

Public Libraries welcome children from the very earliest months of life, helping parents 
and carers to support them as they grow and learn. Working with schools, school library 
services and school librarians, local and national partners, libraries provide a range of 
activities, programmes and initiatives which introduce, extend and refresh the library 
experience to children and support automatic library membership programmes. ASCEL 
have drawn these together into a single ‘library journey’ that every child can enjoy– all 
focused on the best outcomes for the child. 

Page 93

http://www.ascel.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/public/Children%27s%20Library%20Journeys%20report%20%20April%202015.pdf


Appendix 1

 ASCEL Children’s Promise May 2016 2

At what stage in a 
Child’s Journey?

What does this look like? Outcome  

Pre-natal to birth Involvement in pre-natal 
projects and programmes. 
Inspiring parents to read with 
their baby

 Enhancing life outcomes for children aged 
0-2

 Supporting attachment, resilience, 
emotional health and wellbeing, speech 
and language

Pre-school  Inspiring parents to  read  and 
rhyme with their child and 
form a lifelong reading habit, 
Bookstart

Giving parents space and time 
to spend time bonding with 
babies and building parental 
confidence

 Enhancing life outcomes for children aged 
0-2 

 Supporting attachment, resilience, 
emotional health and wellbeing building 
resilience and character, speech, language 
communication development; early literacy 
and school readiness 

Transition to 
primary school

Partnerships with schools, 
including class visits to 
libraries and digital offer 

 Supporting literacy and language 
development, reducing the literacy gap in 
poverty hotspots.

 Tackling rural isolation 
 Providing opportunities for looked after 

children/young carers
Out of school 
engagement with 
primary aged 
children 

Children have the opportunity 
to take part in the Summer 
Reading Challenge and other 
reading, learning, digital and 
cultural activities throughout 
the year 

 Supporting literacy and language 
development raising aspiration

 Closing the literacy gap in poverty hotspots.
 Tackling rural isolation 
 Providing opportunities for looked after 

children/young carers   
 Building community and family cohesion. 
 Reducing  digital inequalities
 Digital fluency –(citizenship, STEM Agenda  

and supporting combating extremism) 
 Supporting emotional  and mental health 

and wellbeing
Transition to 
secondary school 

Supporting learning  including 
new digital resource 

Helping nurture a lifelong love 
of learning that may impact 
positively on exam success. 

Providing an opportunity for 
young people to engage with 
libraries via a digital platform.

 Need for young people to improve their 
technical skills – STEM agenda National 
Curriculum  - IT curriculum / digital  fluency

 Tackling rural isolation
 Contributes to raising young people’s 

aspiration and achievement, supporting 
GCSE /A level success and has a long term 
economic impact

 Supporting transition
 Character education

Page 94



Appendix 1

 ASCEL Children’s Promise May 2016 3

At what stage in a 
Child’s Journey?

What does this look like? Outcome  

Out of school 
engagement with 
secondary school 
children

Participation in volunteering 
opportunities and 
accreditation, Reading Hack 
activities.

 Boosting self-esteem and aspiration, 
increasing confidence, improving 
employability skills and reducing NEETS 

 Reducing inequality and improving 
economic wellbeing

 Community engagement 
/participation/social cohesion

 Improving and supporting young people’s 
mental health and wellbeing?

Our partners

Libraries work with a range of local and national partners to deliver the Children and Young 
People’s Promise. National partners include The Reading Agency, Booktrust, National 
Literacy Trust, Arts Council England, The School Library Association and CILIP Youth Libraries 
Group and School Libraries Group and Inclusive Minds. 

We work closely with the Society of Chief Librarians (SCL) and the Children’s Promise links to 
SCL’s Universal Offers:-

Reading Offer: Books and reading focused promotions for under-fives and older children 
linking to the calendar spikes of the reading offer 
Learning Offer and Digital Offer: Space and resources for formal and informal learning 
including digital skills and creativity and e: safety
Health Offer: Health information and support for children’s well-being, social and emotional 
development and children and young people’s mental health lists
Information Offer: Access to Information and signposting for parents
Six Steps: Provision of accessible resources for children in public libraries 

The Children and Young People’s Promise also reflects the principles of Arts Council 
England’s 7 Quality Principles for work with children and young people. 

 striving for excellence
 emphasising authenticity
 being inspiring, and engaging
 ensuring a positive child-centred experience
 actively involving children and young people
 providing a sense of personal progression

Page 95

http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/what-we-do/our-priorities-2011-15/children-and-young-people/quality/


Appendix 1

 ASCEL Children’s Promise May 2016 4

 developing a sense of ownership and belonging

See Children and Young People’s Promise in Public Libraries 2015 mapped against 
ACE 7 Quality Principles

Delivering on the Children’s Promise

ASCEL’s work to deliver on this promise includes:

Marketing and advocacy

Developing the skills of library staff

Sharing best practice

Research and development

@ASCELUK

www.ascel.org.uk

Page 96

http://www.ascel.org.uk/


Appendix 2

Children’s Library Regular Events

Barbican Children’s 
Library

Shoe Lane Library Artizan Street Library

Bookstart Rhyme Time
Monday 1
0.45-11.15am
Ages 18-36 months

Friday 
0.45-11.15am
Ages 0-18 months

Stay and Play with 
Rhyme Time and stories
Tuesday 
10am-12pm
Ages 0-5 years

Stay and Play
Thursday 
10.30-11.30am
Ages 0-5

Bookstart Storytime
Monday 
4.00-4.30pm

Baby Bounce
Wednesday 
10.30-11.30am
Ages 0-18 months

Rhyme Time
Thursday 
10-10.30am
Ages 12 months – 4 years

Saturday Rhyme Time
10.45-11.15am
Ages 0-5 years

Messy Play
Last Thursday of the 
month 
10.30-11.30am
Ages 0-5

Baby Bounce
Thursday 
11-11.30am
Ages 0-12 months

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



Appendix 3

Case Study
Barbican Children’s Library

We asked one of our regular customers how he and his family used the library and about the impact 
the library has had on their lives.

Myself, my wife, and our daughter (now aged 3) are regular visitors to the Barbican Library, 
specifically the children’s library.
 
From my daughter’s viewpoint, her visits (which started when she was circa 3 months old) have 
allowed her to interact with children that she did not know, and in a different setting to home or a 
nursery.
 She has used the baby and toddlers rhyme times, dad’s rhyme time, the seasonal special events 
(Easter, Halloween, Christmas etc) and has enjoyed them all. She looks envious of the older children 
doing craft on regular basis and I think it won’t be long before she joins in with those.
This is all of course on top of “just” being able to come in and choose from a wide selection of books 
for story time.
 
From my wife’s perspective - the activities they have attended together (singing, playing) have 
helped her to fashion and structure learning activity at home. 
In the earlier days, the babies rhyme time especially allowed her to meet other mothers and discuss 
what developments were going on with each other’s babies and so what would be coming next for 
us or them.

From my viewpoint, which is taken mainly from the Saturday morning (previously dad’s) rhyme time 
- the Library has been a great place to do two things: -

1.) see my daughter interact with other children - a welcome boon for me as work doesn’t always 
allow this in the week.
2.) meet and speak to other dads to go through how we’re coping, what to expect next, and just 
generally catch up with people in same position as myself.

We’ve all made very good friends at the library, both with the staff, and the other families. 
Earlier this year, we even arranged to be on holiday at same time and same place as another family - 
and what was great about that is other than the bonding over children, it is unlikely we’d ever have 
met/spoken to the other parents, despite us living relatively close together.  I think in summing up, 
that is probably the library’s greatest strength/impact to us - it allows us to build/be part of a 
community right in the centre of a city, rather than us having to move away from the centre to find 
one.

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Document is Restricted

Page 101

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	6 Annual Review of Committee's Terms of Reference
	9 Departmental Budget Estimates and high-level summary Business Plan 2020/21 - Community and Children's Services - excluding HRA
	BUSINESS PLAN APPENDIX

	10 Housing Revenue Account and Capital Budgets (HRA ) 2020/21
	11 Education performance for City Primary pupils 2019
	Item 4 - Education performance report 2019 appendicies

	12 Stronger Communities and Small Grants Programme
	Item 5 - Strong-Communities-and-Smaller-Grants-Programme-Report-appendix 1
	Item 5 - Strong-Communities-and-Smaller-Grants-Programme-Report-appendix 2

	13 Barbican and Community Libraries - services for children and families
	Item 6 -  Appendix 1
	Item 6 - Appendix 2
	Item 6 - C&F report App 3

	17 Non-Public Minutes
	18 Waiver Report: City of London Primary Academy Islington ( COLPAI)

